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Yarram and District Health Service  
85 Commercial Road (PO Box 61) 
Yarram, Vic, 3971 
ABN: 23 682 798 533 
 
Telephone:   03 5182 0222 
Facsimile:  03 5182 6081 
Email:  ydhs@ydhs.com.au 
Website:  www.ydhs.com.au 

   

The Board  
 
The Board of the Yarram and District Health 
Service is appointed by the Governor in 
Council on the recommendation of the 
Minister for Health in accordance with the 
Health Services Act 1988. 
 
The functions of the Board are to: 
 
 Monitor the performance of 

Yarram and District Health Service. 
 

 Appoint and determine the 
employment terms (including 
remuneration) of a Chief Executive 
Officer. 
 

 Oversee the management of 
Yarram and District Health Service and 
monitor the performance of the Chief 
Executive Officer. 
 

 Develop statements of priorities 
and strategic plans for the operation 
of Yarram and District Health Service and 
monitor their compliance. 
 

 Develop financial and business 
plans, strategies and budgets to 
ensure accountable and efficient 
provision of health services by 
Yarram and District Health Service and 
its long term financial viability, as well as 
to ensure they are adhered to. 
 

 Establish and maintain effective 
systems to ensure that the Health 
Service meets the needs of the 
community served by Yarram and District 
Health Service and that the views of 
users and providers of health services 
are taken into account. 
 

 Ensure that Yarram and District Health 
Service operates within its budget and 
that its systems accurately reflect its 
financial position and viability. 
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About Us 

The Yarram and District Health Service (YDHS) is located 220 kilometres south east of Melbourne on the 
South Gippsland Highway in rural Victoria.  In relation to regional centres it is 73 kilometres south west of 
Sale and 62 kilometres south east of Traralgon.  The township of Yarram, which is the principal service 
centre of the area, is located in the Shire of Wellington and services an area of approximately 1,840 square 
kilometres and a catchment population of 5,580. 

The Health Service originally commenced operation as the Yarram and District Hospital. It was inaugurated 
on 1st January 1912 and admitted its first patient in January 1917.  In 1993, the hospital name was changed 
to the Yarram and District Health Service to reflect its evolution into an integrated health service, more 
appropriately positioned to meet the needs of the wider community.  
 
YDHS offers acute care services including a 24 hour urgent care facility. General medical and post-surgical 
care, rehabilitation, respite, dialysis and palliative care are all available at YDHS.  St Elmo’s Nursing Home is 
located on the grounds of the main campus and provides recreational activities, outings, volunteer 
companionship and a wide range of other services to its residents.   Crossley House is located adjacent to 
the Health Service and is a 30 bed residential aged care facility.  Crossley House was formally amalgamated 
with YDHS in November 2009. 
 
The Health Service operates under the Department of Health and Human Services Small Rural Health 
Service program and provides a comprehensive range of primary care services. In addition to this operational 
agreement, service delivery is further enhanced through partnership arrangements with the Commonwealth 
Government Department of Health, Department of Social Service and Local Government. YDHS is well 
supported by its teams of volunteers and fundraising Auxiliary.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Responsible Bodies Declaration 
In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I am pleased to present the Report of Operations 
for Yarram and District Health Service for the year ending 30 June 2019. 
 
 
 
Ms Frankie MacLennan 
Board Chair 
Dated the 29th day of August, 2019 
Yarram, Victoria 
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YDHS Strategic Plan 

To be recognised as a leading rural health 
service, YDHS will excel at providing quality, 
efficient and people centred care for our 
community through implementation and 
continuous improvement using the following 
strategies.   
 
A draft 2019 2024 Strategic Plan has been 
submitted to DHHS for approval. 

 
Strategic goals and priorities  
 
Goal 1: Responsive 
To provide health care that is responsive to 
people’s needs we will: 
1. Develop a service plan that profiles: 

 The current and forecasted demand of the 
YDHS catchment 

 The current and required service 
configuration (in view service capability 
frameworks) 

 The gaps, a strategy and estimated costs 
2. Develop a workforce plan to support the 

Service Plan that: 
 Sets out the required workforce 
 Profiles the current workforce 
 Identifies the gaps, strategies and 

estimated costs  
 

Goal 2: Community Focused 
To improve our community’s health status and 
experiences we will: 
1. Develop and implement a YDHS 

communication and engagement strategy 
(focusing on the internal and external 
operating environments) that: 
 Informs  
 Educates 
 Involves 

2. Develop and implement a strategy to foster a 
culture of excellence and customer focus 
(internally and externally) 

 

Goal 3: People-centred 
To develop our services, workforce and system 
capacity to deliver person-centred care and services 
at every level we will: 
 
 
 

1. Explore and trial other models of service, 
care and work 

2. Implement the Gippsland Aboriginal Health 
Cultural Competence Framework 

 

Goal 4: Sustainable 
To improve our financial sustainability and 
productivity we will: 
1. Implement the Energy Plan 
2. Review the costs and revenue of  

 Residential aged care 
 Community Support Program 

3. Investigate alternative sources of revenue 
 

Goal 5: Innovative 
To implement continuous improvement and 
innovation in technology, work and clinical 
practices we will: 
1. Investigate the feasibility of the Nurse 

Practitioner model (consider financial 
implications; scope of practice; community 
need) 

 
GOAL 6: Accountable 
To increase accountability and transparency to 
our community we will: 
1. Develop leaders that: 

 Empower their people to make decisions 
as close as possible to the point of care 

 Create a stewardship mindset in all staff 
(looking after the organisation and its 
customers) 
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Annual Report 

The Annual Report is a legal document prepared in accordance 
with the Financial Management Act 1994 Section 45 and 53A(4) for 
the Minister for Health, Jenny Mikakos MP and through her the 
Parliament of Victoria.  This includes key partners and 
stakeholders, including the three levels of Government, patients, 
residents, clients, their families and carers, volunteers, our 
auxiliary, financial supporters and the local community. 
 
The Annual Report comprises the Report of Operations and the 
Financial Report, including a number of appendices, Compliance 
Disclosure Index, 5 Year Comparative Statistics and the year in 
brief. 
 
Traditional Owners: 
Yarram and District Health Service acknowledge the Gunai Kurnai 
community, the traditional custodians of the land on which we 
stand. 
 
 
 

Message from the Board Chair 

This year is significant for YDHS. We have a major building 
construction underway. The community will soon have their health 
services provided from the new, modern, co-designed Integrated 
Health Care Centre. It will be a outstanding asset for our town and our 
community. 
 
The Integrated Health Care Centre is one of the many legacies of 
our departing Chief Executive Officer, Ms Colleen Boag. As our 
leader for fifteen years, Ms Boag has had many notable 
achievements along the way. Her ability to attract funding for 
YDHS infrastructure projects and services has meant that we have 
been able to provide better health for our community. Her support 
for staff and for the YDHS Board during her tenure as Chief 
Executive Officer has been exemplary. She departs with our very 
best wishes and with much gratitude for the service she has given 
the community over so many years. 
 
 
 
 
Ms Frankie MacLennan 
Board Chair 
 
 

  

 
Organisation Goals 

 
Mission 
“To excel at providing quality, 
efficient, people-centred care for 
our community.” 

 
Vision 
“Yarram and District Health Service 
is recognised as a leading rural 
health service.” 

 

Values 

 Care and Compassion 

 Respect 

 Integrity 

 Professionalism 
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Board Chair & Chief Executive Officer’s Report 
 

Review of the year 2018 2019 by the Board Chair & Chief Executive Officer 
 
Introduction 

A risk based approach across all services has delivered 
positive results in 2018-2019. In area of workforce, 
despite the rural trend, we have recruited to all 
significant roles across YDHS, including our medical 
workforce with 3 General Practitioners and 1 fulltime 
General Practice Registrar delivering improved medical 
cover for YDHS and our community.  

Responding to infrastructure failures have seen a major 
repair to St Elmo’s Nursing Home, the delivery of the 
Solar and Energy Project and the commencement of 
the Integrated HealthCare Centre build. The 
development of these capital projects has been 
complex with many interdependent components to 
ensure our community will benefit from the most 
efficient solutions.  

The 2018-2019 Annual report will demonstrate 
significant achievements in all areas as YDHS 
continues to deliver the best possible care and service 
within the available resources.   

We recognise the valuable contribution of our dedicated 
staff who have worked hard, often in very challenging 
circumstances. They have shown innovation and have 
continued to have the best interests of our community 
at heart.   

Annual performance  

YDHS has reported a surplus net result of $522,170 
for the financial year ending 30 June 2019 which was 
a favorable variance against the budgeted surplus of 
$143,443. This was mainly due to the receipt of 
higher grants against budgeted grants for the year.    

Total income increased by 7.2% during the year 
while expenses increased by 11.2% resulting in a 
reduction of surplus by $504,162 from last year’s 
surplus of $1,026,332. 

During the year total assets increased by $7.5m mainly 
due to the scheduled revaluation of Land and Buildings 
by the Valuer General of Victoria resulting in a $6.9m 
increase in asset value.  Total liabilities increased 
marginally by $0.1m.  As a result, net assets increased 
to $25.6m. 

 

 

Revenue  

Revenue for the year was $16.3m which was higher 
than the budgeted revenue by $1.1m. The main 
favorable variances were State Operational Grants and 
Commonwealth Grants by $0.8m and $0.1m 
respectively. 

Expenditure  

Expenditure for the year was $15.8m which was higher 
than budgeted expenses by $0.7m. Major over runs in 
expenditure were reported from work force ($0.3m), 
medical officers ($0.2m) and consultancy ($0.2m). 
Savings were reported against utilities and radiology 
expenses during the year, totalling $0.1m. 

Capital Grants 

State Capital Grants of $2.0m were received during the 
financial year. The two major grants received were 
$1.19m for the Air-Conditioning project and $0.8m for 
the Integrated HealthCare Centre. 

Significant changes in financial position during the 
year  

Current assets and current liabilities remained stable 
during the year. The most notable movement between 
investments (term deposits) and cash as we work 
through the requirements of the central banking 
system. 

The current asset ratio at 30 June 2019 was at 1.98 
slightly below from last year’s ratio of 2.04. The slight 
movement is primarily affected by the timing of capital 
grants vs expenditure. The current assets ratio above 1 
is an indication the Health Service is in a good financial 
position, with adequate resources to meet liabilities as 
they fall due. 

Operations  

Operational performance during the year was slightly 
down on the previous year impacted by workforce, 
visiting medical officer and medical supply costs. 
Additionally, out of budget expenses were recorded for 
two consultancies being facilitation of the Strategic Plan 
development and the appointment of a consultant to 
assist with the business intelligence understanding and 
claiming for ACFI.  
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Board Chair & Chief Executive Officer’s Report 
 

Across YDHS we have driven efficiency measures, 
continued to review, redesign and to rationalise 
positions at every opportunity. This year we have 
concluded our management restructure which has 
spanned two years and have recruited to most of the 
new positions. The implementation of this management 
structure will deliver financial efficiencies needed while 
continuing to ensure patient and resident safety and 
quality of care.  

The Board recognises our highest risk is the lack of 
consistent medical cover and has continued to invest in 
this area. Focus for 2018-2019 has been to re-establish 
a sustainable medical workforce in Yarram including 
the development of Yarram as a rural generalist training 
post.   

Quality and patient/resident safety is fundamental to 
our care and in September 2017 YDHS was nationally 
accredited under the National Safety and Quality Health 
Service Standards with no recommendations. In 
January 2019 St Elmo’s Nursing Home and Crossley 
House were assessed by the Aged Care Quality 
Agency and found compliant under the Standards 44 
Outcomes with no recommendations. This continual 
cycle of audit is assurance that YDHS has a robust 
Quality Program and is working to continually improve 
patient and resident safety and care.  

Capital Works 

YDHS has three large capital works projects in scope. 
The Integrated HealthCare Centre build is progressing 
well after some early delays. Solar Panels and LED 
lighting have been installed across YDHS and the 
engineering, consultant recommendations and costing 
will be provided for Board consideration in August 2019 
for the last component of that project being the 
geothermal energy source.  

Extensive planning to implement a Heating, Ventilation 
and Air Conditioning solution across YDHS has been 
completed and a further successful submission in 2019 
from DHHS under the Significant Refurbishment 
Infrastructure Grant for $597k will ensure air-
conditioning is delivered to our St Elmo’s Nursing Home 
and Crossley House Hostel this year. Air-conditioning 
will also be installed in our acute areas funded from a 
DHHS grant in 2018. This project will significantly 
improve the amenities of patients, resident and staff 
alike. 

Our people  

Staff are surveyed annually through the Victorian Public 
Sector, People Matter Survey; this gathers staff  

 

knowledge of and adherence to public sector values 
and measures many indicators of workplace wellbeing. 
The impact on staff when the organisation is under 
pressure due to restructuring is difficult to quantify 
however three indicators that we monitor closely are 
staff engagement, feedback and overall job satisfaction.  

Comparative rates on all three indictors for 2016 and 
2017 indicate a positive trend whereas this did not 
continue in the 2018 or 2019 results. Although we 
understand the relationship between the external 
environment and the workplace we have continued to 
invest in the wellbeing of our people through our Health 
and Wellbeing Program and the education and support 
of our managers.  

To improve communication and eliminate any 
workplace bullying we have engaged with staff through 
face to face sessions and online learning and 
discussion with the goal to develop the individual/group 
skill to enable harmonious and respectful interaction. 
We acknowledge the wonderful work of our 80 
volunteers who continue to support the Health Service 
in many and varied ways including the Waratah 
Auxiliary’s cent afternoons, the Palliative Care fund 
raising events, those who give their time to assist our 
patients and residents and those who serve on our 
Consumer Partnership and Quality Committees. All 
offer generous support for which we are very 
appreciative. 

Partnerships  

The Health Service has been well supported in its work 
throughout the year and we offer our appreciation to the 
Department of Health and Human Services, Wellington 
Shire Council, our local members of parliament both 
State and Federal, Visiting Medical Officers and partner 
agencies.  

We have continued to identify opportunities to increase 
Health Service/Community communication and 
transparency with regular updates on our website, 
Facebook and articles in the Yarram Standard news.  In 
2018 YDHS implemented regular community Q&A 
events in addition to our Open Board meeting to enable 
our community to speak directly with the Board and 
Executive about those issues of greatest interest to 
them. The forum also provides a great opportunity for 
the Health Service to communicate our plans and 
activities directly with interested community members. 
The Q&A events were reviewed in 2019 with positive 
feedback from all participants. The review recognised 
that the format would likely evolve but the forum was of 
great benefit to all involved.   
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Board Chair & Chief Executive Officer’s Report 
 

How we communicate with our consumers through the 
Consumer Partnership Committee has been reviewed 
to ensure our consumer advisors are more 
representative of the community. We now have greater 
flexibility to engage with those groups of people that we 
need input from. Consumer representation on the 
Board Quality Committee has been increased.  

The support of our community over the years has been 
outstanding with a significant bequest from the estate of 
Miss Margaret Henderson (Peg) Bland being directed 
to the new Integrated HealthCare Centre. Support from 
our community is critical in our capacity to deliver and 
the Health Service was pleased to discuss progress 
with the family of Miss Bland.   

The Board  

The Board skill set was significantly refreshed with the 
appointment of Dr Amanda Ormerod, Ms Angela 
Jacobs and Mr Peter O’Reilly in July 2018. New Board 
Directors have brought clinical, financial and 
operational expertise to the Board and Board 
Committees on which they serve.  

Throughout the year Directors participated in various 
external educational opportunities to enable them to 
understand clinical governance issues and 
requirements for Health Services to better govern the 

Health Service, this included Ms MacLennan’s regular 
attendance at the Gippsland Regional Board Chairs 
Forum, Board Director refresher training and Voluntary 
Assisted Dying Legislation training. The input from 
Directors working in the sector is significant and 
provides a good balance of expert and industry opinion 
in the Board room.    

The Board have adopted a 5 year Strategic Plan 2019-
2024 to guide YDHS development and has worked with 
consultants to recruit a new CEO following the 
resignation of Ms Colleen Boag in February 2019.   

On June 30 2019, Ms Robyn McLachlan’s maximum 
term of office concluded. Ms McLachlan was first 
appointed in 2010 and has served on the Audit and 
Risk Committee, Finance Committee, Medical Advisory 
Appointments Committee and the Investment 
Committee during her tenure.  Ms McLachlan’s 
significant contribution toward the governance of YDHS 
is recognised.  

Ms Frankie MacLennan’s term also expired in June 
2019 and application has been made for an extension 
for a further year to facilitate the recruitment and 
appointment of a new Chief Executive Officer, who will 
commence in August 2019. Ms MacLennan has served 
on the Audit and Risk Committee and as YDHS Board 
Chair for the last three years.  

 
Staff Recognition 
In 2019 it gives us great pleasure to recognise the following staff for their service to our Health Service: 
 

2019 Service Recognition 

20 Years Trevor Barlow and Mary Willis 

15 Years Caroline Bergervoet, Maureen Gardner and Bryan Reid 

10 Years John Badham, Prisca Gabiana and Billie Shea 

 
We recognise the dedication and commitment of all our staff and extend our appreciation for their support through the 
year. 
 

 
 
 

Frances MacLennan       Colleen Boag 
Board Chair       Chief Executive Officer 
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STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES REPORT 
 

Part A: Strategic Priorities  
In 2018 2019 Yarram and District Health Service contributed to the achievement of the government’s 
commitments by: 

Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Outcomes 
Better Health 
A system geared to prevention 
as much as treatment 
 
Everyone understands their own 
health and risks 
 
Illness is detected and managed 
early 
 
Healthy neighbourhoods and 
communities encourage healthy 
lifestyles  

Better Health 
Reduce state-wide risks 
 
Build healthy 
neighbourhoods 
 
Help people to stay 
healthy 
 
Target health gaps 

Progress the Achievement 
Program at YDHS to achieve 
benchmarks for Healthy Eating 
and Physical Activity priority 
areas. 

Completed 
YDHS continues to 
participate in the 
Achievement Program and 
has met the requirements 
for Healthy Eating. YDHS 
has a traffic light system on 
staff honesty tuckerbox 
snacks.  Actively promoted 
staff participation in Active 
April. 

Actively contribute to the 
development and 
implementation of year 2 of the 
Municipal Public Health and 
Wellbeing Plan:  'Healthy 
Wellington'. 

Completed 
Continue to work 
collaboratively with 
Wellington Shire Council 
and the Wellington primary 
Care partnership with the 
focus on having an 
integrated approach to 
health promotion  

Better Access 
Care is always there when 
people need it 
 
More access to care in the home 
and community 
 
People are connected to the full 
range of care and support they 
need 
 
There is equal access to care 

Better Access 
Plan and invest 
 
Unlock innovation 
 
Provide easier access 
 
Ensure fair access 
 
 

Develop the Integrated 
HealthCare concept to deliver 
joined-up care in the 
Integrated HealthCare Centre 
being constructed this year. 

Completed 
The Integrated Healthcare 
Centre is currently being 
constructed and it is 
anticipated that the building 
will be complete late 2019. 

Facilitate and develop the 
Yarram Medical Centre as a 
medical training practice 
thereby stabilising staffing of 
the medical workforce. 

Completed 
First full-time, full year 
placement of a GP 
registrar commenced 
February 2019. 

Better Care 
Target zero avoidable harm 
 
Healthcare that focusses on 
outcomes 
 
Patients and carers are active 
partners in care 
 
Care fits together around 
people’s needs 

Better Care 
Put quality first 
 
Join up care 
 
Partner with patients 
 
Strengthen the workforce 
 
Embed evidence 
 
Ensure equal care 

Complete a structural review 
of primary care services that 
considers the required skills 
mix and systems to create 
efficiencies and sustainability 
and implement 
recommendations by June 
2019. 

Completed 
A structural review of 
Primary Care resulted in 
a new Manager 
appointment and a 
resource employed for 
administration and data 
support. A staff skill mix 
analysis was done with 
the view to maintaining 
home support, Allied 
Health and NDIS 
services. To date this has 
resulted in the 
appointment of an 
additional Occupational 
Therapist.   
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Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Outcomes 
Deliver four professional 
development sessions 
across YDHS with the goal to 
develop staff adaptability and 
resilience to facilitate the 
successful implementation of 
change.   

In Progress 
A professional facilitator 
has been engaged to 
deliver sessions in 
September 2019. 

Specific 2018-19 priorities 
(mandatory) 

Disability Action Plans 
Draft disability action plans 
are completed in 2018-19.   

Submit a draft disability action 
plan to the department by 30 
June 2019. The draft plan 
needs to outline the approach 
to full implementation within 
three years of publication. 

Completed 
Action plan has been 
drafted. 

Volunteer engagement 
Ensure that the health 
service executives have 
appropriate measures to 
engage and recognise 
volunteers. 

Undertake annual reward 
and recognition events for 
Volunteers, e.g. Volunteer 
week, each May and 
Christmas. 

Completed 
Volunteer 
acknowledgement 
functions were held in 
May 2019 for Volunteer 
week and in December 
2018 for Christmas. 

Advertise for volunteers as 
required and highlight 
successful volunteer 
placements in the media. 

Completed 
Recruitment advertising 
for Volunteers is placed 
in the media periodically 
with cameo stories of 
some of volunteer 
achievements also being 
highlighted. 
 

Bullying and harassment 
Actively promote positive 
workplace behaviours and 
encourage reporting. 
Utilise staff surveys, 
incident reporting data, 
outcomes of investigations 
and claims to regularly 
monitor and identify risks 
related to bullying and 
harassment, in particular 
include as a regular item in 
board and executive 
meetings. Appropriately 
investigate all reports of 
bullying and harassment 
and ensure there is a 
feedback mechanism to 
staff involved and the 
broader health service 
staff. 

Facilitate two workshops with 
staff to develop 
communication skills, and 
implement the Gathering 
Kindness Program to 
promote positive workplace 
behaviours.  
 

Completed 
Appropriate Workplace 
Behaviour training was 
conducted in May for all 
staff with most staff 
attending. 
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Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Outcomes 
Occupational violence 
Ensure all staff who have 
contact with patients and 
visitors have undertaken 
core occupational violence 
training, annually. Ensure 
the department’s 
occupational violence and 
aggression training 
principles are 
implemented. 

Make annual training in 
Occupational Violence 
mandatory.  

Completed 
Occupational Violence 
training is mandated for 
staff.  Implementation is 
oversighted by the OHS 
Committee.  
 

Environmental 
Sustainability 
Actively contribute to the 
development of the 
Victorian Government’s 
policy to be net zero 
carbon by 2050 and 
improve environmental 
sustainability by identifying 
and implementing projects, 
including: 
 workforce education, to 

reduce material 
environmental impacts 
with 

 particular consideration 
of procurement and 
waste management, 
and 

 publicly reporting 
environmental 
performance data, 
including 

 measureable targets 
related to reduction of 
clinical, sharps and 
landfill 

 waste, water and 
energy use and 
improved recycling. 

Install Geothermal and Solar 
systems for the generation of 
energy – Heating, cooling, 
air-conditioning and 
electricity, jointly funded by 
DHHS and YDHS, completed 
by 30 June 2019. The solar 
and geothermal projects have 
the potential to save in excess 
of 300 tonnes of CO2/year and 
save $240,000 in energy costs 
per year.  These savings will 
have commenced by 30 
January 2019. 
 

Completed 
A Solar Electricity 
producing system has 
been installed, as has 
LED lighting throughout 
our facilities.  Significant 
savings on electricity 
consumption and bills is 
already evident. 
 
In Progress 
Work is continuing on the 
Geothermal project – at 
this stage quotes for 
drilling into the aquifer 
have been received and 
are being assessed. 

LGBTI 
Develop and promulgate 
service level policies and 
protocols, in partnership 
with LGBTI communities, 
to avoid discrimination 
against LGBTI patients, 
ensure appropriate data 
collection, and actively 
promote rights to free 
expression of gender and 
sexuality in healthcare 
settings.  Where relevant 
services should offer 
leading practice 
approaches to trans and 
intersex related 
interventions. 

The health service will enrol in 
the GLHV HOW2 program as 
a means of meeting the 
Rainbow Tick accreditation 
program for LGBTI inclusive 
health service practice. 

In Progress 
LBGTI Diversity in Aged 
Care professional 
development session 
delivered to Aged Care 
staff. Information on LGBTI 
provided in packs for 
residents. LGBTI Self-
assessment to be included 
in the 2019-2020 YDHS 
Diversity Plan. 
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Part B: Performance Priorities 

High quality and safe care  

Key performance indicator Target Actuals 

Accreditation   

Accreditation against the National Safety and Quality Health 

Service  Standards  

Full compliance Full compliance 

Compliance with the Commonwealth’s Aged Care Accreditation 

Standards 

Full compliance Full compliance 

Infection prevention and control  

Compliance with the Hand Hygiene Australia program 80% 88% 

Percentage of healthcare workers immunised for influenza 80% 94% 

Patient experience  

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey data submission Full compliance  

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  percentage of positive 

patient experience responses  

Target 95% 
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 

Full Compliance* Full Compliance* Full Compliance* 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  percentage of very 

positive responses to questions on discharge care 

Target 75% 
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 

Full Compliance* Full Compliance* Full Compliance* 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  patients perception of 

cleanliness 

Target 70% 
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 

Full Compliance* Full Compliance* Full Compliance* 

* Less than 42 responses were received for the period due to the relative size of the Health Service 

Key performance indicator Target Actuals 

Adverse events  

Sentinel events – root cause analysis (RCA) reporting All RCA reports 

submitted within 30 

business days 

Nil sentinel events 

Strong governance, leadership and culture 

Key performance indicator Target Actuals 

Organisational culture  

People matter survey - percentage of staff with an overall positive 

response to safety and culture questions 

80% 88% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to 

the question, “I am encouraged by my colleagues to report any patient 

safety concerns I may have” 

80% 92% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to 

the question, “Patient care errors are handled appropriately in my work 

area” 

80% 93% 
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Key performance indicator Target Actuals 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to 

the question, “My suggestions about patient safety would be acted 

upon if I expressed them to my manager” 

80% 90% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to 

the question, “The culture in my work area makes it easy to learn from 

the errors of others” 

80% 91% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to 

the question, “Management is driving us to be a safety-centred 

organisation” 

80% 90% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to 

the question, “This health service does a good job of training new and 

existing staff” 

80% 78% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to 

the question, “Trainees in my discipline are adequately supervised” 

80% 89% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to 

the question, “I would recommend a friend or relative to be treated as a 

patient here” 

80% 82% 

 

Effective financial management  

Key performance indicator Target Actuals 

Finance  

Operating result ($m) $-0.135 $-0.443 

Average number of days to paying trade creditors 60 days 

 

47 days 

Average number of days to receiving patient fee debtors 60 days 42 days 

Adjusted current asset ratio 0.7 or 3% 

improvement from 

health service base 

target 

2.38 

Forecast number of days a health service can maintain its operations 

with unrestricted available cash (based on end of year forecast) 

14 days 197 days 

Actual number of days a health service can maintain its operations with 

unrestricted available cash, measured on the last day of each month. 

14 days Achieved 

Measures the accuracy of forecasting the Net result from transactions 

(NRFT) for the current financial year ending 30 June. 

Variance ≤ 

$250,000 

Not Achieved 
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Part C: Activity and Funding 

Funding type Activity Totals 

Small Rural – Primary Health Flexible Service Hours 

Counselling and Casework 550 

Nursing 113 

Allied Health 713 

Integrated Chronic Disease 183 

Small Rural HACC (Program for Younger People) 

Delivered Meals 83 

Allied Health Dietetics 29 

Allied Health Physiotherapy 406 

Allied Health Occupational Therapy 118 

Allied Health Speech Pathology 46 

Allied Health Counselling 59 

Allied Health Podiatry 25 

Assessment and Care Coordination 500 

Domestic Assistance 642 

Nursing at Home and Centre 258 

Nursing Wound Consumables 766 

Property Maintenance 61 

Personal Care 457 

Respite Home 82 

Planned Activity Group Core 0 

Planned Activity Group High 259 

Volunteer Coordination 175 

 

Other  Activity Totals 

Small Rural Acute (WIES) 429 

Small Rural Residential Care (bed days) 16,532 

Small Rural Health Independence Program (contacts) 3, 082 
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The Board 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Ms Frankie MacLennan 
Position: Chair 
Commenced 2008 
Chair of the Medical Appointment Advisory Committee.   
Ex-officio on the Audit & Risk, Finance and Quality Improvement 
Committees 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Mr Shaun Braybrook 
Position: Deputy Chair 
Commenced 2011 
Member of the Quality Improvement Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Dr Rosemary Irving 
Position: Board Director 
Commenced 2011 
Chair of the Quality Improvement Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Ms Angela Jacob 
Position: Board Director 
Commenced 2018 
Member of the Audit & Risk Committee and Medical Appointment 
Advisory Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Mr Stuart Jillings 
Position: Board Director 
Commenced 2016 
Member of the Quality Improvement Committee 
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The Board 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Ms Robyn McLachlan 
Position: Board Director 
Commenced 2010 
Member of the Audit & Risk Committee, Finance Committee and Medical 
Appointment Advisory Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Mr Len Neist 
Position: Board Director 
Commenced 2017 
Member of the Quality Improvement Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Mr Peter O’Reilly 
Position: Board Director 
Commenced 2018 
Member of the Finance Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Dr Amanda Ormerod 
Position: Board Director 
Commenced 2018 
Member of the Finance Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Mr Trevor Yong 
Position: Board Director 
Commenced 2014 
Member of the Audit & Risk Committee 
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Administrative Structure and Relevant Ministers 

Board Directors 
Ms F MacLennan Chair 

Mr S Braybrook Deputy Chair 

Dr R Irving  

Ms A Jacob  

Mr S Jillings  

Ms R McLachlan  

Mr L Neist  

Mr P O’Reilly  

Dr A Ormerod  

Mr T Yong  

 
Audit & Risk Committee - Independent  
Members 
Mr Garry Stephens Chair 

Mr John Hirt Community Rep 

Mr Norman Reynolds 
(resigned February 2019) 

Community Rep 

 
Past Presidents 
1916 - 1918  Mr AH Moore 
1918 - 1920  Mr CJ Stockwell 
1920 - 1921  Mr TG McKenzie 
1921 - 1923  Mr AH Moore 
1923 - 1928  Mr WL Moore 
1928 - 1929  Mr E Skinner 
1929 - 1938  Mr AH Moore 
1938 - 1941  Mr WL Moore  
1941 - 1954  Mr AH Moore 
1954 - 1962  Mr D McLeod 
1962 - 1968  Mr AR Anderson 
1968 - 1970  Mr MJ Pearson 
1970 - 1973  Mr WJ Moore 
1973 - 1984  Mr SB Walpole 
1984 - 1986  Mr AP Moore 
1986 - 1989  Mr WJ Boddy 
1989 - 1999  Mr WT Bodman 
2000 - 2001  Mrs FW Dawson 
2001 - 2001  Mr WT Bodman 
2001 - 2010  Mrs JL Clarke 
2010 - 2011  Mr MD Moore 
2010 - 2016  Dr D Hill 
2016 – current Ms F MacLennan 

 
 
Auditor  
Auditor General of Victoria 
Agent: Crowe Horwath, Warragul  

 

 

Director Medical Services: 
Dr C Winter, MB BS, GMQ, MBA, FACEM 

 
Senior Officers   

Chief Executive Officer: 
Ms C Boag, RN, BHSc, Grad Dip HSc, GAICD  

Director of Nursing: 
Ms C Boag, RN, BHSc, Grad Dip HSc, GAICD  

Director of Primary Care: 
Ms B Kennedy, RN, Grad Dip Periop, Cert Sterilisation & 
Infection Control, Grad Cert Public Service Management, 
ACHSM 

Director of Corporate Services: 
Mr J Wilson, Dip Human Resources, CAHRI, AIMM 
 
Responsible Ministers: 
Federal Ministers: 

The Hon Greg Hunt MP, Minister for Health  

The Hon Alan Tudge MP, Minister for Human Services 

State Ministers: 

The Hon Jill Hennessy MLA, Minister for Health, 
Minister for Ambulance Services for the period 
01/07/2018-29/11/2018 

Jenny Mikakos, Minister for Health and Minister for 
Ambulance Services for the period 29/11/2018-
30/06/2019 

The Hon Martin Foley MLA, Minister for Mental Health 

The Hon Gabrielle Williams, Minister for the Prevention 
of Family Violence 

The Hon Richard Wynne, Minister for Housing 

The Hon Luke Donnellan, Minister for Child 
Protection, Minister for Disability, Ageing and Carers 
 

Visiting Medical Officers: 
Dr A Asha (registrar)  
Dr A Azzam (MB ChB) 
Dr E Beaton (registrar) 
Dr G Ivanoff (MB BS) 
Dr D Ibraheem, MB ChB 
Dr S Khan, (MB BS)  
Dr S Kunwar (xx 
Dr K Mandaleson, (MB BS)  

Dr L Cadzow (locum) 
Dr J DeZordi (Paediatrician) 
Dr G Dias, (locum) 
Dr H Hay, (locum) 
Dr C Luiz, (locum) 
Dr M Marinovic (locum) 
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Attestations  

Data Integrity 

I, Bernadette Wardle certify that the Yarram and District Health Service has put in place appropriate internal controls 
and processes to ensure that reported data accurately reflects actual performance.  The Yarram and District Health 
Service has critically reviewed these controls and processes during the year. 
 
 
 

Bernadette Wardle 
Accountable Officer 

Yarram & District Health Service 
Dated the 29 day of August, 2019 

 
Conflict of Interest 

I, Bernadette Wardle, certify that Yarram and District Health Service has put in place appropriate internal controls 
and processes to ensure that it has complied with the requirements of hospital circular 07/2017 Compliance reporting 
in health portfolio entities (Revised) and has implemented a ‘Conflict of Interest’ policy consistent with the minimum 
accountabilities required by the VPSC. Declaration of private interest forms have been completed by all executive 
staff within Yarram and District Health Service and members of the board, and all declared conflicts have been 
addressed and are being managed. Conflict of interest is a standard agenda item for declaration and documenting at 
each executive board meeting. 

 

 
Bernadette Wardle 

Accountable Officer 
Yarram & District Health Service 

Dated the 29 day of August, 2019 
 

 

Financial Management Compliance 

I, Frankie MacLennan on behalf of the Responsible Body, certify that Yarram and District Health Service has complied 
with the applicable Standing Directions 2018 under the Financial Management Act 1994 and Instructions.  

 
 

 
 

Bernadette Wardle 
Accountable Officer 

Dated the 29 day of August, 2019, Yarram, Victoria 
 
 

Integrity, fraud and corruption 

I Bernadette Wardle certify that Yarram and District Health Service has put in place appropriate internal controls and 
processes to ensure that Integrity, fraud and corruption risks have been reviewed and addressed at Yarram and 
District Health Service during the year. 

 
 

Bernadette Wardle 
Accountable Officer 

Yarram & District Health Service 
Dated the 29 day of August, 2019 
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Disclosures  
Health Purchasing Victoria (HPV) Health Purchasing Policies 
I, Bernadette Wardle verify that Yarram and District Health Service has put in place appropriate internal controls and 
processes to ensure that it has complied with all requirements set out in the HPV Health Purchasing Policies including 
mandatory HPV collective agreements as required by the Health Services Act 1988 (Vic) and has critically reviewed 
these controls and processes during the year. 
 

 
Bernadette Wardle 

Accountable Officer 
Dated the 29 day of August, 2019, Yarram, Victoria 

Occupational Violence 
Occupational Violence Statistics 2018-2019 
1. Workcover accepted claims with an occupational violence cause 

per 100 FTE 
0 

2. Number of accepted Workcover claims with lost time injury with 
an occupational violence cause per 1,000,000 hours worked. 

0 

3. Number of occupational violence incidents reported 9 

4. Number of occupational violence incidents reported per 100 FTE 7.3 
5. Percentage of occupational violence incidents resulting in a staff 

injury, illness or condition 
0 

 

Occupational Health and Safety 
Yarram and District Health Service maintains a standing Occupational Health and Safety Committee which normally 
meets monthly to assist in review, consultation and discussion, policy, procedure, planning and action around 
Occupational Health and Safety matters. 
 

Occupational Health and Safety 2018-2019 2017-2018 2016-2017 
Number of reported hazards/incidents per 100 full-time equivalent 
staff members 

26 46.8 62 

Number of ‘lost time’ standard claims per 100 full-time equivalent 
staff members 

2.4 8 1.6 

Average cost per claim for the year (including payments to date and 
an estimate of outstanding claim costs as advised by Work Safe) 

$13,914 $109,272 $43,366 

 
Additional Information FRD 22H: 
Details in respect of the items listed below have been retained by the health service and are available to the relevant 
Ministers, Members of Parliament and the public on request (subject to the freedom of information requirements, if 
applicable): 
• Declarations of pecuniary interests have been duly completed by all relevant officers; 
• Details of shares held by senior officers as nominee or held beneficially; 
• Details of publications produced by the entity about itself, and how these can be obtained; 
• Details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and levies charged by the Health Service; 
• Details of any major external reviews carried out on the Health Service; 
• Details of major research and development activities undertaken by the Health Service that are not otherwise 

covered either in the report of operations or in a document that contains the financial statements and report 
of operations; 

• Details of overseas visits undertaken including a summary of the objectives and outcomes of each visit; 
• Details of major promotional, public relations and marketing activities undertaken by the Health Service 

to develop community awareness of the Health Service and its services; 
• Details of assessments and measures undertaken to improve the occupational health and safety of 

employees; 
• A general statement on industrial relations within the Health Service and details of time lost through industrial 

accidents and disputes, which is not otherwise detailed in the report of operations; 
• A list of major committees sponsored by the Health Service, the purposes of each committee and the extent to 

which those purposes have been achieved; 
• Details of all consultancies and contractors including consultants/contractors engaged, services provided, 

and expenditure committed for each engagement. 
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Disclosures  
Carers Recognition Act 2012: 
As a care support organisation, Yarram and District Health Service: 

 Takes all practicable measures to ensure that its employees and agents have an awareness and understanding of the 

care relationship principles. 

 Takes all reasonable measures to ensure that persons who are in care relationships and who are receiving services in 

relation to the care relationship from Yarram and District Health Service have an awareness and understanding of the 

care relationship principles. 

 Takes all practicable measures to ensure that Yarram and District Health Service and its employees and agents reflect 

the care relationship principles in developing, providing or evaluating support and assistance for persons in care 

relationships. 

 

Competitive Neutrality: 
It is Government policy that the costing policies of publicly funded organisations should reflect any competitive advantage not 
available to the private sector. The Yarram and District Health Service supports this policy and meets its requirements.  
 

Consultancies Under $10,000:  
In 2018 2019, there were 4 consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were less than $10,000.  The total 
expenditure incurred during 2018 2019 in relation to these consultancies is $8,260 (exc GST). 
 

Consultancies Over $10,000   
 
 
 

Consultant 

 
 
 

Purpose of Consultancy 

 
 
 

Start Date 

 
 
 

End Date 

Total 
approved 

project fee 
(excl GST) 

 
Expenditure 
2018 2019 
(excl GST) 

 
Future 

expenditure 
(excl GST) 

McBride 
Charles Ryan 
MCR  

Integrated HealthCare Centre (IHCC) 
& Energy Future Plan (EFP) - Architect 
& project management  

29/05/2017 2020/21 526,666 245,778 122,889 

RBB IHC & EFP - Project Quantity & Cost 
Surveyor 

24/10/2017 2019 21,550 8,000 2,400 

Meinhardt IHC & EFP - Project Engineering 
various 

17/05/2018 2020/21 120,050 63,940 43,450 

Dreery 
Consulting  

EFP & Crossley Kitchen & Laundry 
(CKL) - Project Engineering various 

17/04/2019 2019 11,400 1,800 9,600 

GeoExchange Project Engineering /Geo Exchange  05/09/2018 2020 65,400 30,800 34,600 
SGT & GEO Geotechnical Investigation & Reporting  23/5/2018 27/07/2018 19,387 19,387 n/a 

Sub totals  $764,453 $369,705 $212,939 
 

Contractors:  
Contractor Services provided Expenditure 

TS Constructions Builder - Integrated HealthCare Centre (IHC)  871,897 
Energis Solar PV installation_150.22kW  contract HPVC2017-143  231,100 
Ledified  LED lighting upgrade                                                                             

VIPP - local > 50% 
49,991 

Milnos  Electrical Contractor Cooling upgrades – desertification fans   
VIPP - local > 70% 

8,819 

  $1,161,807 
 

Building Act 1993: 
All buildings of the Health Service comply with the Building Act, 1993. The Health Service has a policy of consulting 
architects and engaging registered builders when renovating existing buildings or constructing new facilities.  Plans are 
submitted to local government for approval and building permits issued prior to commencement.  
 
All sites are subject to a Fire Safety Audit and Risk Assessment according to revised standards as directed by the 
Department of Health and Human Services. 
 

Employment and Conduct Principles: 
Merit and equity principles are encompassed in employment and are reinforced by our Code of Conduct.  Employees have 
been correctly classified in all workforce data collections. 
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Disclosures  
Environmental Performance:  
YDHS records, monitors and manages the volume of electricity, LPG and water used with a view towards continual 
reduction.  Reduced use of these key consumables assists in minimising our impact upon the environment and our 
costs.  In 2018 2019 total greenhouse gas emissions from energy consumption was 806.8 tonnes (958.68 tonnes in 
2017 2018).  Water use during 2018 2019 was 6,590 kilolitres (7,799 kilolitres in 2017 2018).  YDHS will continue to aim 
to reduce energy and water use.  YDHS currently operates a recycling program which sees recyclables separated and 
delivered to the Yarram Transfer Station for recycling.  

Freedom of Information Act 1982:  
The nominated Freedom of Information Officers are the Director Corporate Services and Manager People and Business 
and they have responsibility for Health Information Management at the Yarram and District Health Service. For information 
on how to make a FOI request and for associated costs visit www.ydhs.com.au or phone 5182 0222.   
 
During the 2018/2019 financial year 4 requests for information were received under the Freedom of Information Act 1982, 
4 requests were granted in full.  
 
In addition to requests under the Freedom of Information Act 1982, the Health Service recognises requests for “release of 
information” where information is sent directly to a designated Medical Practitioner for ongoing care.  There were 53 
requests for release of information this year. 

 
Information and Communication Technology (ICT) Expenditure  
The total ICT expenditure incurred during 2018 2019 is $495,965 (excluding GST) with the details as below: 

Business As Usual (BAU) 
ICT expenditure  

Non-Business As Usual (non-BAU) ICT expenditure  

Total 
(excluding GST) 

Total = Operational expenditure 
and Capital Expenditure 
(excluding GST) (a) + (b) 

Operational expenditure 
(excluding GST) (a) 
 

Capital expenditure 
(excluding GST) (b) 
 

$492,329 $3,636 $0 $3,636 

 

National Competition Policy 
Yarram and District Health Service continues to comply with the Victorian Government’s Competitive Neutrality Policy. 
 

Protected Disclosures Act 2012 
Yarram and District Health Service has developed a procedure for the protection of individuals from detrimental action.  
Guidance is available on the Yarram and District Health Services website and is contained in the organisation’s policy and 
procedure manual.  No Protected Disclosures have been received this year. 
 

Risk Management: 
The Yarram and District Health Service is subject to Directions requiring departments and agencies to implement and maintain 
certain risk management governance, systems and reporting requirements.  The Yarram and District Health Service attests 
that its risk identification and management plans are consistent with the relevant national standards. 
 

Safe Patient Care Act 2015, Schedule 40  
Nil to report 
 

Local Jobs First   
In 2018 2019 there were 2 contracts to which the Local Jobs First Policy applied. 

Contractor Services provided Percentage of local 
content 

TS Constructions Builder - Integrated HealthCare Centre (IHC)  87% 
Energis Solar PV installation_150.22kW  contract HPVC2017-143  83% 
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Quality Account  
Report prepared by Ms Kerrie Mitchell 
Clinical Governance and Quality Coordinator 

 
Information to our community about the safe and quality 
care provided at YDHS. 
Providing safe and quality care to clients, patients and 
residents is of utmost importance. We constantly strive to 
provide care and services that reflect best practice.  The care 
we provide must meet national and state healthcare 
standards. We are also required to comply with state-wide 
plans and State and Commonwealth statutory requirements. 
 
This report provides examples and information about what 
YDHS has achieved over the last 12 months in accordance 
with Safer Care Victoria Victorian Quality Account Reporting 
Guidelines for public health services 2018-2019.   
 
Participation of clients, patients, residents, family and 
community 
YDHS provides services to a broad community. We need to 
ensure that the services provided are safe, high quality and 
meet the needs of the community.  Patients, residents, clients 
and their families are actively encouraged to participate fully 
in planning for and the delivery of effective care. The wider 
community are encouraged to gain better understanding 
about their health. YDHS provides many opportunities for this 
to occur as reported later in this document. 
 
In providing services there is equitable access for people 
from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds, 
including people with disabilities. YDHS will not discriminate, 
directly or indirectly against people who do not speak English 
well or at all, or use a form of sign language. An accredited 
Interpreter Service is utilised when required. Over the 12 
month reporting period, there were no occasions when the 
Interpreter Service was required. 
 
In addition to ongoing involvement in care and service 
planning and delivery, those receiving care and services are 
encouraged to provide feedback at any time.  YDHS actively 
promotes the Australian Health Care Charter incorporating 
the value of receiving feedback from our patients, residents, 
families, carers and visitors. This can be verbal or written 
feedback, such as compliments or complaints.   All feedback 
provided is respected and confidentiality is maintained. 
 
Feedback forms are available throughout YDHS and 
feedback can also be provided directly to YDHS via the 
YDHS website (http://www.ydhs.com.au), telephone, email or 
other written form. 
 
Complaints are taken seriously and action is taken to resolve 
complaints to the satisfaction of those making the complaint 
whenever possible. Complaints and feedback can result in 
significant activities being undertaken to improve care and 
services.  
 
Feedback from inpatients obtained from bedside surveys 
showed that patients often do not read information provided 
to them on admission.  Information is provided to patients on 
a range of topics including preventing falls, preventing 
pressure injury, infection prevention and medication safety.  
The aim of providing the information is to keep patients safer 
in hospital.  In light of this feedback the idea of showing 
patients videos on the topics was formed. 

In July 2017 YDHS was successful in obtaining funding 
from the Health Issues Centre Practice Partners Program 
to produce videos for patients to watch. After months of 
consultation with staff, members of the YDHS Community 
Partnership Committee and the Health Issues centre, the 
filming of the videos was undertaken in May 2018. Staff, 
Community Partnership Committee members and 
participants from Wulgunggo Ngalu Learning Place were 
actors in the videos.  In September 2018 the videos were 
finalised and ready to show to patients admitted to the 
Acute Ward. Members of the community were invited to 
attend a formal launch of the videos in October 2018 and 
the videos were promoted to the community via an article 
in the Yarram Standard in November 2018.  
 
The four short videos on preventing infection, falls and 
pressure injuries and the importance of identification, 
medication, speaking up and providing feedback are 
shown to patients on their admission to hospital with 
positive feedback received. Promotion of the videos 
across Victoria occurred via the Health Victoria 
publication and across the Gippsland region via the 
regional Quality Managers Network meetings.  A number 
of health services have indicated that they are planning to 
utilise the videos 
 
Patients admitted to hospital are invited to provide 
feedback during their stay in hospital.  If concerns are 
raised these are followed up and actioned quickly.  
Patients may be invited to participate in the Victorian 
Healthcare Experience Survey, for acute patients. Due to 
the small number of YDHS participants in this survey, 
YDHS has not received feedback from the survey 
process. 
 
Both St. Elmo’s Nursing Home and Crossley House 
Hostel hold regular meetings with residents and their 
family members / carers.  Residents and their families are 
encouraged to participate and be involved in these 
meetings. The meetings provide an opportunity to provide 
positive feedback on what is working well or constructive 
feedback to improve service delivery.  Residents and 
families are also surveyed by YDHS regarding their 
experience and satisfaction with care.  
 
Clients receiving services from the Commonwealth Home 
Support Program and Home and Community Care are 
actively encouraged to provide feedback. They are invited 
to participate in the Victorian Healthcare Experience 
Survey for Community Health.   The 2019 results for 
community clients has shown significant improvement 
regarding clients feeling comfortable to raise issues and 
ask questions important to them about their health. This 
could be contributed to work undertaken over the past 12 
months where YDHS has standardised care plans for 
community clients across all health disciplines, and staff 
have attended workshops to deepen their understanding 
and increase skills in assisting clients to identify their 
health goals.  Whilst this is positive, some of the feedback 
also showed that the amount of information provided 
related to the client around their health issues and pricing 
is down from last year.
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Quality Account cont’d 
 
Over the past 12 months community clients have found it 
more difficult to access a service. Whilst the health service is 
centrally located in the town of Yarram, significant building 
works have been occurring and the medical clinic and 
community services are relocated to another site. The ease 
of making an appointment has decreased from 78% to 49% 
so YDHS will be investing in an online booking system for GP 
appointments and the implementation of this will coincide 
with the opening of our new integrated health care centre.   
 
YDHS scored greater than 90% in the community survey in 
all areas related to our facilities which included cleanliness, 
safety and being physically welcomed. It is acknowledged 
there has been a slight decrease in scores around our 
facilities possibly due to building works. A staff consultative 
working group has formed to streamline our customer service 
processes for the new building and we will be engaging with 
our Community Partnership Committee to ensure we have a 
welcoming environment for our community members. 
 
Discharge arrangements have improved for community 
clients with the implementation of a standardised discharge 
letter which has been implemented across community 
services. When a client ceases receiving community services 
the nominated general practitioner receives a discharge letter 
to enable continuity of care for the client. 
 
Escalation of Care Processes 
YDHS has evidence based policies and procedures for staff 
to follow including escalation of care processes. This means 
that staff may need to take particular actions to care for a 
patient when there is a problem with their vital signs, ie body 
temperature, pulse rate, rate of breathing, blood pressure. 
Staff follow the procedures on documenting patient vital sign 
observations.  The frequency of observations and the 
individual requirements for each patient are as indicated by 
the medical officer or by the nursing team.  This is based on 
the patient’s diagnosis and proposed treatment. The 
observations are charted in the form of a graph. The graph 
tracks changes over time. The graphs provide information 
about the response or action required if an abnormal level is 
reached or if the patient is deteriorating (getting sicker). 
 
Other observations and assessments may be documented to 
support timely recognition of deterioration as well as 
additional information from tests performed (e.g. blood tests, 
x-ray). 
 
The policy and procedure also covers the requirements for 
patients attending Urgent Care, Dialysis, as Day Stay 
Patients or for blood product transfusion.  
 
A rapid response to clinical deterioration is necessary. YDHS 
does not have a rapid response team. In the event of clinical 
deterioration extra staff can be called. Staff are called by 
order of experience/skill, starting at clinical staff with 
Advanced Life Support training.  The treating doctor and / or 
the on-call doctor is notified. In the event of a medical 
emergency both the on-call and treating doctor are notified. 
Basic Life Support (BLS) and Advanced Life Support (ALS) 
measures are commenced. Registered Nurses working in 
Acute are trained in BLS / ALS. 
 

The ambulance service is utilised if 
necessary. The decision to transfer a patient to an 
external facility is made in consultation by the nurse in 
charge and the treating medical officer. When no medical 
cover is available the registered nurse in-charge 
organises for the patient to be transferred to another 
facility via either the Adult Retrieval Service or Rural 
Ambulance Victoria.   
 
Staff experience 
In 2018, YDHS staff were invited to participate in the 
People Matter Survey.  This is an employee opinion 
survey run annually by the Victorian Public Sector 
Commission to gain an understanding about what it is like 
to work in an organisation.  Fifty-six staff members (31%) 
responded to the survey which sought their opinion on a 
wide range of questions regarding their experience 
working for YDHS. The average score on the patient 
safety questions was 88%, compared to 74% for all 
organisations participating in the survey.  
 
In order to improve staff experience in working for YDHS, 
all staff were required to attend ‘Appropriate Workplace 
Behaviour’ training. The training provided information to 
staff about workplace laws and policies and procedures 
which relate to workplace behaviour. 
 
Senior staff members have also participated in a Health 
Literacy workshop which covered: 
 Definition and types of health literacy 
 The effects of low health literacy in the community 
 The attributes of a health literate organisations 
 The collaborative approach to improving health 

literacy in the community 
 
Building capacity for people to participate in their 
own healthcare 
 
YDHS has been involved in many activities over the past 
12 months aimed at encouraging consumers, carers and 
community members to participate more fully and 
effectively in managing their own healthcare. In addition 
to the production of videos highlighted earlier in the 
report, some of these activities are as follows: 
 
Healthy eating, Healthy Living Group – Multiple programs 
conducted 
A 4 week program facilitated by a Dietitian to provide 
support, education and encouragement in relation to goal 
setting, emotional eating and overcoming barriers to 
healthy eating. 
 
National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) 
Making information available to the community on YDHS 
involvement in NDIS and how to contact YDHS for further 
information on the rollout. 
 
Close the Gap Day 
Hosting staff and participants from Wulgunggo Ngalu 
Learning Place to give YDHS staff an insight into the 
health challenges faced by participants and the role of 
YDHS in supporting them.
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Quality Account cont’d 
 
Doctors and Specialist availability 
Giving information to the community on General Practitioner 
services and Specialist care available from the Yarram 
Medical Centre to increase awareness of services available 
and how to access the services. 
 
Promotion of  Influenza Vaccination 
A front page article in the Yarram Standard highlighting the 
risk of influenza and the benefit of immunisation against the 
virus. 
 
Promotion of home-based community services 
Information provision to the community on how to access 
home-based services to enable them to live in their own 
home for longer 
 
YDHS Float in the Tarra Festival 
Using the fun of the Easter Tarra Festival theme ‘Peace and 
Love’ to provide information to the community on Advance 
Care Planning. 
 
Wine, Women and Song -Womens Health Night October 
2018 
A great night out for women with expert speakers on cervical 
screening, heart disease, pelvic floor, bowel health and 
genetic screening. 
 
Family Violence – breaking the silence 
Promoting awareness for the community on family violence 
and avenues for assistance. This is part of the Strengthening 
Hospital Response to Family Violence Project. 
 
Allied Health Café Series 
A survey of the community to determine what their priorities 
are for community health information sessions topics.  
Seventy- eight responses were received and a new café 
series was determined based on the feedback. 

 
Involving the community in what we do 
 
YDHS is extremely fortunate to have a very dedicated group 
of volunteers who contribute significantly to the  
health service.  Volunteers are valued highly not only for the 
support they provide to the health service, but also because 
they can act as a communication channel to and from YDHS 
with the wider community.  
 
The Board is made up of members predominantly from our 
Community who volunteer their time, knowledge and expertise to 
provide the highest level of governance within YDHS.  
 
The Community Partnership Committee has a key role at 
YDHS. The members, who are volunteers, are representative 
of our community and provide us with invaluable advice and 
feedback, including advice on our publications for patients 
and clients.  Members of this Committee also participate in 
the Director’s Quality Committee meeting, providing a 
respected consumer perspective.  The Committee provides a 

 means for two-way communication, with members able to 
provide community comment and feedback directly to 
YDHS and to act as a voice back to the community from 
YDHS. In addition, the Committee reviews YDHS reports 
and plans, including the Cultural Diversity Plan and the 
Strategic Plan, and has received regular updates on 
planning for the Integrated Healthcare Centre  and other 
major works such as Energy Project  . As reported above, 
this Committee have played a key role in the production of 
videos as part of the Health Issues Centre Practice 
Partners Program. 
 
There is ongoing promotion of the Community Partnership 
Committee within the community and requests for people to 
join and give their voice to YDHS. 
 
The Board provides opportunities for direct community 
involvement, for example, through invitations to: 

 provide feedback on the Draft 2018-2023 Strategic Plan via a 
Public Consultation and Q&A Session 

 attend and participate in the six monthly Public Q&A sessions 
 attend the Annual Reporting Meeting 
 become a member of a Board Committee 

  
Disability Action Plan 
 
The Disability Action Plan has been drafted following 
consultation between Executive and Managers, and is 
inclusive of all areas across the organisation. Further 
consultation is planned with: 

 Community participation group 
 Peak bodies where relevant 
 Staff consultative group 

Many areas identified for improvement are structural 
issues that could potentially impact on access to the 
service.  
 
Infection Prevention and Control  
 
In the 12 month reporting period there were no cases of 
Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia.  At 30 June 2019 
YDHS had achieved a 92.4% participation rate for staff 
influenza vaccination, exceeding the 80% target set by the 
Department of Health and Human Services. 
 
Residential Aged Care 
 
PSRACS Data 
St. Elmo’s Nursing Home and Crossley House Hostel 
participate in regular auditing and report Public Sector 
Residential Aged Care Services (PSRACS) data to the 
Department of Health and Human Services. The table 
below provides two sets of data for both facilities 
compared to the State actual (PSRACS Actual) and the 
targets as set by PSRACS. The data presented is for the 
2018/2019 period and 2017/2018 period. The quality 
indicators reported appear at the top of the table e.g. falls. 
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Quality Account cont’d 
 

PSRACS Data  
 Falls Falls 

related 
fractures 

Pressure 
Injury 

Stage 1 

Pressure 
Injury 

Stage 2 

Pressure 
Injury 

Stage 3 

Pressure 
Injury 

Stage 4 

9 or more 
medications 

Significant 
weight loss 

Use of 
Physical 
restraint 

2018/2019  

Crossley HH 
Rate  

5.44 0.23 0.00 0.23 0.00 0.00 5.10 0.11 0.00 

St Elmo’s NH 
Rate  

10.84 0.00 0.39 0.77 0.00 0.00 3.48 0.39 0.90 

PSRACS Actual  7.67 0.15 0.32 0.35 0.04 0.01 4.37 0.80 0.43 

PSRACS Target  3.30 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.10 0.20 0.00 

2017/2018 

Crossley HH 
Rate  

5.13 0.19 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.97 0.00 0.00 

St Elmo’s NH 
Rate  

10.75 0.00 0.00 0.52 0.00 0.00 3.54 0.66 0.13 

PSRACS Actual  7.66 0.15 0.35 0.35 0.05 0.01 4.40 0.78 0.53 

PSRACS Target  3.30 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.10 0.00 0.00 

 

Residents who are found to have unplanned weight loss are 
referred to the Dietitian for review and other measures are put 
in place as appropriate for that resident.  Where possible, the 
aim is to reduce the number of medications a resident takes, 
if they are on nine or more medications. Consultation occurs 
with the medical officer to determine if a reduction of 
medications is possible. 

In July 2018 YDHS were offered the assistance of a 
consultant from the Quality Improvement Team, PSRACS to 
provide an additional review of any areas where an external 
party review would be considered beneficial.  YDHS 
requested that the nurse consultant review falls in Crossley 
House Hostel, acquired pressure injuries in St. Elmo’s 
Nursing Home and the transition from one care 
documentation system to another. The consultant did not find 
any deficiencies in practices in relation to falls or pressure 
injuries, and made some recommendations for the ongoing 
implementation of the new documentation system. 

 
Incidents 
 
Incident reporting is a key component of the Quality and Safety 
system. Staff are encouraged to report all incidents as they 
occur.  Incidents are investigated and where possible 
preventative steps are taken to reduce the risk of a similar 
incident occurring again.  When an incident occurs it is reported 
by entering the details into a database which automatically 
notifies a range of relevant staff members that the incident 

has occurred.  Incidents are rated in the database 
according to their severity which is calculated based on the 
degree of impact on the person, the level of care required 
and the treatment required.   
 
The severity rating calculated is either ‘1’,’2’,’3’ or ‘4’ with ‘1’ 
being the most serious rating and ‘4’ indicating that there 
was no harm.  The vast majority of incidents reported at 
YDHS fall into category ‘4’ (no harm) or ‘3’ (minimal harm).  
There have been no severity ‘1’ incidents or sentinel events 
in the reporting period.  There have been 5 clinical adverse 
events with a severity rating of ‘2’.  These are often 
automatically rated as severity ‘2’ by the database when a 
patient or resident is transferred to another facility from 
where they are based.  For example, if a resident in 
Crossley House Hostel requires increased observation and 
monitoring following an incident and is taken to the Acute 
ward of YDHS, the severity rating will be ‘2’, even though 
the resident may not have had any adverse outcome from 
an incident. An adverse event is an incident that results in 
harm. The following table provides the number of clinical 
severity 2 incidents for Acute and Residential Care. All of 
the incidents related to falls.  All patients and residents are 
assessed for their falls risk. Based on the assessed risk, 
every precaution is taken to prevent falls from occurring 
with a range of measures put in place, as relevant and 
appropriate. If a fall occurs the patient or resident is 
reassessed and further precautions put in place as 
required. 
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Quality Account cont’d 
 

The number of Severity 2 clinical incidents for 2018–2019: 

Facility Number of Severity 2 incidents 

Acute 0 

St. Elmo’s Nursing Home 1 

Crossley House Hostel 4 

 
Accreditation and quality reviews  
YDHS undergoes a range of accreditation and quality surveys. The 
status of accreditation across YDHS is as follows: 

Acute (Inpatients) 
A full survey against the National Safety Quality and Healthcare 
Standards was undertaken on 19 and 20 September 2017. 
(Previous recommendations from the survey in 2014 in relation to 
Advance Care Planning and evaluation of printed patient infection 
prevention and control information were all met). Surveyors from the 
Australian Council on Healthcare Standards conducted the survey. 
All of the 10 standards were met with no new recommendations. One 
action received a Met with Merit. This related to ‘Action is taken 
reduce the risk of incidents arising from the use of blood and blood 
product control systems’. YDHS is accredited against these 
standards until 9 November 2020. The next accreditation survey is 
scheduled for July 2020. 

Commonwealth Home Support Program 
A Quality Review was conducted on the 5 June 2018 by a surveyor 
from the Australian Aged Care Quality Agency. All of the four 
standards were met with no recommendations. There were no 
previous recommendations for consideration. The next quality review 
is scheduled to occur in 2021. 

Crossley House Hostel 
Surveyors from the Australian Aged Care Quality Agency conducted 
an unannounced survey on 31 January 2019. There were no new 
recommendations and no previous recommendations for 
consideration. Crossley House Hostel is accredited until 25 July 
2020.  Unannounced visits can occur at any time. 

St. Elmo’s Nursing Home 
Surveyors from the Australian Aged Care Quality Agency conducted 
an unannounced survey on 31 January 2019. There were no new 
recommendations and no previous recommendations for 
consideration. St. Elmo’s Nursing Home is accredited until 7 August 
2021. Unannounced visits can occur at any time. 

Yarram Medical Centre 
Full survey against the Royal Australian College of General 
Practitioners standards was undertaken in September 2016. There 
was one recommendation that was completed and Yarram Medical 
Centre is fully accredited until 24 January 2020. A full survey is 
scheduled to occur in October 2019. 

Youth and Family Services 
The Child and Family program and Housing program underwent Mid 
Cycle Review against the Department of Health and Human Services 
– Human Services Standards on 16 October 2018. There were no 
new recommendations and no previous recommendations for 
consideration. A full accreditation survey is scheduled to occur in 
October 2019. 
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Our Year in Review 

Primary Care Services 
Report prepared by Ms Bernadette Kennedy 
Director Primary Care 
 
Areas of responsibility: 
 Home Support Services including Domestic assistance, in home 

respite, Personal Care, Assessment, Care Coordination, meals on 
wheels and social support groups 

 Community Nursing including Palliative Care, Foot Care Clinic, 
District nursing, Diabetes education and Maternal & Child Health 
Services 

 Health Promotion  

 Allied Health Services including Physiotherapy, Speech Pathology, 
Occupational, Dietetics and group Therapies,  

 Social Services – including Housing Support, Youth work, 
Emergency Relief, Social Work and Integrated Family Services  

 

The Primary Care Division continues to work toward 
completion of its organisational goals in line with the 
2015 2018 Strategic Plan.  Progress towards these 
goals during the financial period are as follows: 

Community Support 
 
Assessment Services 
 
The assessment service is a State and Commonwealth 
government funded service and aims to identify the 
needs of any person that may need support to assist 
them to remain living with independence in their home.  
Support can include assistance with cleaning or minor 
maintenance, personal hygiene, nursing, personal 
alarms, allied health services or maintaining a social 
network.  The assessment also looks at support options 
for the main carers that are living in the home. 
 
Assessments are undertaken with standardised forms 
that are used across Australia (for aged clients) and the 
assessor has an allied health background and has 
undergone extensive training in this field.  
 
Over the past 12 months, 1,422 hours of assessment and 
care coordination have been delivered in our region; a 
case study of a client’s experience is detailed below.  
 
An older gentleman originally contacted My Aged Care to 
request assistance to clean his gutters and as a result he 
was referred to YDHS for an assessment. When 
assessed, the gentleman had arthritis, diabetes and 
depression and all these conditions were impacting on 
his day to day living activities. He had experienced a 
number of falls that were of concern and he was worried 
as he was keen to remain living at home and wanted to 
remain as independent as possible. He was eager for 
advice and assistance on how he could manage his own 
health needs. During the assessment it was identified the 
person would benefit from physiotherapy, occupational 
therapy, diabetes education, some minor home 
modifications to assist with showering and the installation 
of a smoke alarm, as well as a referral for some home 
maintenance to address his original request for help to 

clean his gutters. It was also identified that some of 
the issues that contributed to his depression could 
be managed with some assistance around the 
house and dressing. The assessment led to a 
number of referrals for these services and the 
gentleman now received regular assistance and 
remains at home. It was also identified that he 
needed information on pension concessions and 
other services that were available and a referral 
was made to the social worker for this information. 
 
Maternal and Child Health Service 
 
The Maternal and Child Health (M&CH) service is a 
free service available to all Yarram and district 
families who have children under six years of age. 
The focus of the service is to assist families with the 
health and wellbeing of their babies and young 
children.  
 
The M&CH service is located at the Yarram 
Community Hub at 156 Grant St, Yarram and 
operates a clinic twice a week on Wednesday and 
Friday. Families can make an appointment or drop 
into the centre at any time but there are particular 
times when a review of your child’s health, learning 
and development is recommended and these 
include following discharge from hospital (home 
visit); at two weeks of age; four weeks; eight weeks; 
four months; eight months; one year; 18 months; 
two years and three and a half years 
 
The M&CH also has an Enhanced Program that 
responds to the needs of children and families that 
require a more intensive level of support. This was 
expanded in July 2018 to support children up to 
their third birthday. YDHS has supported the 
professional development of our M&CH nurse with 
ongoing education in family violence, autism 
screening and recognising and responding to early 
childhood trauma. Over the past 12 months M&CH 
program has delivered 80 hours of enhanced care 
to 15 families in our community. 
 
The M&CH program has a good working 
relationship with the birthing hospitals in our area 
including Latrobe Regional Hospital, Central 
Gippsland Hospital and South Gippsland Hospital 
and a domiciliary midwifery visit for newborns and 
their families is provided upon referral. Twelve 
domiciliary visits were undertaken during 2018-
2019. 
 
First time parents are supported and encouraged to 
attend a first time parents group to assist with 
developing a social network and expand their 
knowledge of early childhood health and 
development. It is also a great opportunity to meet 
new friends. 
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Primary Care Services cont’d 
 
Diabetes Education Service  
 
What is diabetes? Diabetes is a chronic condition 
marked by high levels of glucose (sugar) in the blood. 
The main types are type1, type 2 and gestational 
diabetes. Over the last 30 years the number of people 
with diabetes has tripled, and rates are generally higher 
among males, the elderly, Indigenous Australians and 
people living in remote and socioeconomically 
disadvantaged areas. Type 2 is the most common form. 
It is estimated that 1 in 10 deaths in Australia had 
diabetes as an underlying and /or associated cause of 
death (2014 data).  
 
YDHS offers a diabetes service that provides education 
including monitoring of blood sugar and strategies to 
control this, dietary advice, information on complications 
of diabetes with the focus on self-management.  The 
YDHS Diabetes nurse works collaboratively with other 
health professionals to ensure all aspects of this disease 
are managed appropriately.  
 
For the last 12 months The Diabetes clinic has been 
operating weekly from the main campus and can be 
accessed by any community member with: 
 Type 1 diabetes 
 Type 2 diabetes 
 Pre diabetes 
 Impaired glucose tolerance 
 Impaired fasting glycaemia 
 Diabetes in pregnancy (gestational diabetes)  
 Anyone at high risk of diabetes 
 Friends, cares and /or partners of people with 

diabetes 
 
Foot Clinic 
 
The YDHS community nursing foot clinic was established 
in 2007 as it was identified that many YDHS clients were 
unable to access a sevice in the area to trim their 
toenails. Foot care is extremely important to help prevent 
problems, particularly in persons with poor circulation or 
those with diabetes. YDHS has nurses that are specially 
trained in foot care. 
 
The foot clinic runs twice a week on Tuesday and 
Wednesday and all clients will have a foot assessment 
and basic foot care is provided. This service is very much 
appreciated by the clients who attend and a recent 
survey of clients demonstrated this satisfaction. 
Comments included “feet have improved with constant 
attention”, “marked improvement in foot health”, “feet 
have improved greatly”. 
 
During the past 12 months the foot clinic relocated from 
121 Commercial Road, Yarram to the main hospital as 
building works for the new Integrated Health Care Centre 
(IHCC) were underway. The clinic will be relocated to the 
new building when completed.   
 

During 2018-19, 474 hours of care have been 
provided by our nurses for the foot clinic service. 

 
Community Nursing 
 
The aim of community nursing is to support people 
and their families to prevent disease, maintain health 
and treat any existing problems. YDHS provides a 
community nursing service into people’s homes 
across the Yarram and surrounding areas and covers 
a geographical area of 1,869 square kilometres. 
The community nursing team provide services for 
wound care, post-acute care, hospital in the home, 
palliative care and general nursing care.  
 
Over the past year the community nurses have 
provided 2302 hours of nursing care to our 
community, and a recent Gippsland wide wound 
survey has shown that 50% of this care is related to 
wound care. This includes leg ulcers, wounds after 
surgery and trauma wounds. One of the measures for 
success for the service is to be able to heal a 
person’s wound without them having to be admitted 
to hospital.  
 
One of the successes of the past year came from a 
patient who was admitted to the service following 
cardiac surgery. The patient had had a graft taken 
from his lower leg during the surgery and this had 
failed to heal properly. When the patient was referred 
to the service it was thought that further surgery 
would be required to heal the wound but the nurses 
assessed the wound and embarked on a plan of 
treatment. After 8 weeks and 25 dressings the patient 
returned to the surgeon for a review and was advised 
that no further surgery would be needed. Needless to 
say, the patient, the surgeon and the community 
nurses were all very pleased with this result. 
 
YDHS also delivers a small community palliative care 
service via the community nursing team and this is 
supported by the Gippsland Region Palliative Care 
Consortia and a consultancy service. This service 
aims to look after the physical, emotional and spiritual 
needs of someone with a serious illness that cannot 
be cured and this is achieved by ensuring there are 
regular visits from the palliative care nurse 
practitioner, palliative care nurses and local general 
practitioners. During the last year 198 hours of 
palliative care were delivered by our nurses in the 
community. 
 
Regular education and professional development is 
needed to maintain knowledge and to develop new 
practices and competencies and this ensures our 
community have access to the best care possible. 
During the past 12 months the team have had 
education in wound management, oncology (cancer 
management), cancer survivorship, mental health first 
aid and eating disorders 
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Primary Care Services cont’d 
 
Youth 
 
Yarram Youth United (YYU) is a group of young people 
who design and run youth events and activities in 
Yarram. This group has been working to create 
opportunities for young people to get involved in the 
community for over 4 years now.  
 
YYU act as the working group for the Engage! Program, 
a Department of Health and Human Services initiative to 
engage young people in their local community. The 
capstone of the Engage! Program in Yarram will be the 
development of a Youth Café based at Hendo’s, where 
youth focussed events will run once a month, both 
recreational and educational. 
 
In October the Yarram Engage! Program hosted Event 
Management training through PUSH as part of the 
Training Workshop Activity.  The Push Event 
Management training provides an excellent opportunity 
for young people to explore and learn practical skills and 
knowledge to organise and run events in their 
community. 
 
YYU members volunteered at the Yarram Agricultural 
show in November, as well as the Tarra Festival over 
Easter.  
 
Health Promotion 
 
In 2019 YDHS staff members participated in Febfast. 
Febfast encourages participants to give up a not-so-
healthy habit, such as alcohol or sugar, or another habit 
of their choice, for the month of February. Not only is this 
an opportunity to beat these habits for a month, Febfast 
participants can also choose to raise money for young 
people experiencing a disadvantage. The campaign 
raised $592,693 nationally in 2019. 
 

YDHS participated in the Premiers Active April campaign 
in April 2019. This campaign is run by the Victorian 
government to boost participation in physical activity. 
Staff were able to participate in classes at the Yarram 
Neighbourhood Fitness Zone, the YDHS gym, yoga and 
daily walks at lunch time. 20 participants contributed to a 
total of 553 hours of activity. 
 
In November 2018 and May 2019, YDHS staff were able 
to register for a 2-day Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) 
training course that was delivered by an external 
contractor.  
 
MHFA provides participants with the knowledge and skills 
to support friends, family members or co-workers 
experiencing mental health problems or a mental health 
crisis. Topics covered included assisting someone 
experiencing an anxiety attack, how to approach 
someone who may be considering suicide, and talking 
about depression. With 1 in 5 Australians experiencing 
mental illnesses in a given year, this training was highly 
relevant and many participants shared their own stories. 
The feedback from participants was very positive, and all  
attendees felt that they were in a better position to 
recognise symptoms of mental health issues.  

 

 
The Achievement Program is a Victorian government 
initiative, developed by Department of Health and 
Human Services and Department of Education and 
Training and managed by the Cancer Council Victoria 
to support good health and wellbeing within our 
community. Schools, early learning centres and 
workplaces can sign up to the Achievement Program 
where they will be provided with frameworks to 
promote health in their organisation. With over 2700 
members, the benefit of this program is that is uses 
coordinated, system wide change to promote health, 
moving beyond isolated programs and projects. 
YDHS works closely with the Wellington Primary Care 
Partnership (WPCP) and local schools and business 
to promote good health by focusing on system wide 
changes to promote good choices. In our local 
government area, 14 schools and 8 early childhood 
services have signed up to this initiative. 
 
YDHS, as a workplace, is also participant in the 
Achievement program and has received recognition 
for the Mental Health and Wellbeing health priority 
areas. YDHS is currently working towards achieving 
the healthy eating and physical activity health priority 
areas. 
 
“Sitting is the new smoking” is a phrase that has been 
circulated in the public health space in recent years. 
This refers to the increasing amount of research that 
suggests excessive sitting contributes to negative 
health outcomes such as some cancers, diabetes, 
and poor mental health.  
 
Workplaces are one setting where excessive sitting 
can occur. A 2017 survey indicated that 46.9% of 
YDHS (administrative) staff spend most of their work 
day sitting. 
 
In response to this, YDHS trialled sit stand desks with 
four of their non-clinical staff members. Results 
showed that trial participants used their sit stand 
desks for an average of 66 minutes per day.  
 
Interviews found that some participants enjoyed their 
sit stand desk as a way of managing pain, with one 
participant stating “My back wasn’t as sore… I got 
sore legs standing up but my back feels better, I can 
sit again… sometimes when you sit it’s like 
pressure/weight on the small of your back. Standing 
takes that away.” 
 
Family Services 
 
The YDHS Family Services team continue to provide 
support for the more vulnerable families in the 
community. The members of the Family Services 
team are committed to forming and nurturing positive 
professional relationships with external support 
agencies to provide a quality wrap around service, 
while continuing to work closely with other 
professionals in the Yarram and wider area.  
Providing a collaborative practice environment can 
lead to better outcomes for vulnerable community 
members.  
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Primary Care Services cont’d  

 
Housing 
 
The number of homeless persons and those sleeping 
rough continues to increase across Victoria, and this 
includes people residing in the Yarram area. Housing 
stock is in extremely short supply within the district of 
Yarram and YDHS continues to have a large number of 
people accessing the housing support program. Over the 
past 12 months people accessing emergency 
accommodation or attempting to secure short term and 
long term housing has remained high. The YDHS 
housing program continues to work with clients that have 
multiple complex needs including mental health, drug and 
alcohol issues and a history of family violence. The 
HASS (Housing Accommodation Support Service) 
program has identified an increase in the age of people 
at risk of homelessness, the program was recently able 
to support an older member of the community who was 
experiencing a range of personal issues including 
homelessness to access a ‘forever home’ and with  

ongoing support the client has retained the tenancy 
successfully. 
 
In August as a broader strategy to continue to 
increase the awareness of people facing 
homelessness, YDHS in conjunction with local cafes 
once again held Street Smart Café during 
Homelessness Week, where the cafés of Yarram 
agreed to participate by promoting the issue of 
homelessness, decorating their premises in yellow 
and staff wearing Street Smart homelessness 
awareness merchandise. To raise funds each café 
donated $1 from each coffee sold toward the 
prevention and awareness of the homelessness 
issues faced by people in and around our area.  The 
Housing team continues to provide support services 
while managing a large caseload.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
At Yarram & District Health Service (YDHS) we recognise that family violence across the life span is a complex and 
serious community issue, most commonly experienced by women and their children. It has both immediate and long-term 
impacts on the physical, psychological and social health and wellbeing of those affected. 
 
As a health service we are in a unique position to identify people at risk, sensitively enquire if we can help, and make 
referrals to specialist family violence services if required. By doing so we will help to reduce the incidence of family 
violence and its impact on individuals, families, the community and the health system. 
 
We will support our staff both professionally and personally in relation to family violence to ensure their wellbeing and 
safety. 
 
Our vision is a future where our community is free from family violence and where healthy, respectful relationships 
between women and men are the norm. As a hospital we can make a significant contribution to achieving this vision and 
contribute to changing behaviours and community attitudes through our clinical practices, education and advocacy 
programs.  

YDHS Organisational Statement on Family Violence 
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Nursing & Residential Care Services 
Report prepared by Ms Colleen Boag 
Director of Nursing & Residential Care 
 
Areas of responsibility: 
• 20 acute inpatient beds including 3 dialysis chairs 
• Urgent Care (averages 105 presentations per month) 
• St Elmo’s Nursing Home (18 high care and 12 low care 
dementia-specific beds- now Ageing in Place) 
• Crossley House Hostel (30 low care beds with Ageing in Place 
and respite beds available) 
• Manage a team of approximately 36 FTE (approximately 79 
staff) comprising qualified nurses, care assistants, 
leisure and lifestyle staff, Team Leaders and Coordinators. 
 
The Nursing & Residential Care Division works 
within the parameters of the 2015 2018 Strategic 
Plan’s organisational goals.  Progress towards 
these goals during the financial period are as 
follows: 
 
To provide health care that is responsive to people’s 
needs 
 
For the year ending June 2019 three full time general 
practitioners and one general practice registrar have 
delivered improved medical coverage for Acute, Urgent 
Care, St Elmo’s Nursing Home, Crossley House Hostel 
and the Yarram Medical Centre.  
 
In Acute we provided 2,371 inpatient days. The patient 
profile for YDHS is of older patients with complex 
chronic and sub-acute conditions. Local dialysis patients 
accounted for most of the same day activity providing a 
valuable service, demand has continued to grow for this 
service and a second dialysis shift will be required to 
manage patient demand into the future. 
 
We have had an average of 165 presentations per 
month to our Urgent Care and although many are 
assessed as non-emergency there have been 241 
transfers.  
 
The Strengthening Hospitals Response to Family 
Violence Program was launched in 2018 and will train all 
YDHS staff, but particularly clinical staff to recognise the 
signs of family violence, to be sensitive, respectful and 
refer to people to the correct help. This program has 
provided training to 80% of clinical staff. 
 
To improve our community’s health status and 
experience 
 
Influenza vaccination of our residents is an important 
health promotion measure. Residents were offered 
vaccinations, with pneumococcal, herpes zoster and 
influenza for those eligible under the Victorian 
immunisation schedule.  
 
In both residential aged care facilities influenza 
vaccination uptake was more than 90%. Residents are 
free to choose whether to have these vaccinations or not 
and information is provided to the resident and the family 
to ensure an informed decision is made. 
 
At 30 June 2019 YDHS had achieved 91.8% 
participation rate for staff influenza vaccination. This was 

a positive response to a successful YDHS campaign to 
increase staff immunisation which protects staff, patients 
and their families. 
 
In our Urgent Care the introduction of Point of Care 
testing for lactate offers the early identification of sepsis 
and appropriate antimicrobial use, as has the utilisation 
of faster influenza testing for patients and residents at 
risk.  
 
Two important areas of work have been in preparing the 
Heath Service for the implementation of My Health 
Record and the Voluntary Assisted Dying Legislation.  
YDHS’ role in facilitating the expansion and use of the 
digital record is important as it enables the patient to 
control the content and sharing of their information in My 
Health Record and also enables the clinician access to 
necessary clinical information for diagnosis and 
treatment. The Voluntary Assisted Dying Legislation is 
important legislation as it gives the patient the ultimate 
choice about their care. YDHS has chosen to provide 
information and referral for patients wishing to access 
Voluntary Assisted Dying.  
 
To expand our services, workforce and systems 
capacity 
 
We have continued to invest in activities that expand the 
skills and capacity of our clinical workforce. In May, 2019 
we conducted a seminar titled “WHAT EMERGENCY”. 
This seminar was focused on Rural Urgent Care 
presentations; assessment and early intervention 
needed for acutely unwell patients who arrive at Urgent 
Care Centre often with no warning. Attendees travelled 
from all over Gippsland and provided very positive 
feedback on the course content and also for hosting the 
seminar. 
 
Basic and Advance Life Support sessions have been 
provided to all Clinical Staff. Basic Life Support training 
is comprised of online and practical components with an 
emphasis on knowing what to do when you need to, how 
to respond and how to be of use in a life threatening 
situation. Training is practical showing how to use an 
External Automatic Defibrillator and the importance of 
effective chest compressions.  
 
Advanced Life Support certification is an annual 
competency for Senior Registered Nurses and Doctors. 
This qualification has been undertaken by 9 Registered 
Nurses and 2 Doctors with a second session planned for 
September. This competency covers all medical 
emergencies and the immediate treatment for 
anaphylaxis, heart attack, respiratory arrest, seizure and 
stroke. Incorporated in this training we have practical 
assessment on the use of our intraosseous drill which 
enables clinicians to collect pathology, administer 
medications and fluid to patients via their bone marrow 
when patients are not able to support venous access. 
This equipment was purchase from a donation from the 
community and has been used a number of times in life 
threatening presentations. 
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Nursing & Residential Care Services 
 
Ambulance Victoria, through their liaison service, have 
provided education and clinical support to assist when 
transferring patients to other hospitals for further care 
and how we can provide whole team care for these 
patients.  
 
To improve our financial sustainability and 
productivity 
 
Occupancy levels in our residential aged care facilities is 
crucial to the level of financial support that we receive 
from the state and federal governments and we work 
hard to promote our facilities and take pride in the care 
we provide for our residents. 
 
This year YDHS engaged the services of a consultancy 
service to improve our commercial understanding of 
Commonwealth ACFI claiming, this has resulted in an 
increase in the value of our claims which we will invest 
into our facility.  
 
We continue to manage costs carefully across all 
facilities and especially around inpatient transport, 
pharmacy and medical supplies to ensure we remain 
viable. We monitor staffing rosters closely to ensure we 
maintain safe staffing levels at all times. 
 
To implement continuous improvement and 
innovation in technology, work and clinical practices 
 
In response to patient feedback about the amount of 
information provided to inpatients YDHS with the support 
of the Health Information Centre grant worked to 
develop 4 short videos to give information on the four 
highest risks for inpatients. The videos were developed 
in consultation with and featured our consumers and 
staff and ran for several minutes each. The four 
separate videos provide information on: the importance 
of hand washing and preventing infection; how to avoid 
falling in hospital; how to prevent pressure injuries in 
hospital and the importance of medication, identification, 
the patient's right to request more information, to provide 
feedback and to speak up if they feel there is a change 
in their condition. The videos have deliberately been 
made with generic content so that any health service 

may use them and are available via the Health Issues 
Centre website.  
 
To improve our clinical practice a risk-based Audit Tool 
which crosses multiple standards has been 
implemented. This Audit tool enables clinical staff to 
provide immediate resolution to any gaps identified.  
 
To increase accountability and transparency to our 
community 
We regard timely feedback as an opportunity to improve 
our service and welcome constructive criticism that 
requires us to look at the way we practice and enables 
us to provide better care.  
 
Feedback is received from a range of sources: 
• Informal feedback at point of service by patients 

and residents to staff and managers; 
• Formal feedback using the YDHS Feedback form, 

telephone or e-mail; 
• Resident meetings;  
• Consumer representatives at our formal quarterly 

meetings of the Community Partnership Group; 
and 

• Patient Survey via a new process at the bedside, 
with survey questions as approved by the 
Australian Commission on Quality and Safety 
enabling real time resolution of inpatient concerns.   

 
All feedback is acknowledged and where necessary 
investigated with a response to the consumer within 
agreed time-frames on all occasions. This is 
documented electronically with reports provided at 
various levels within the organisation including at staff-
meetings, to Directors, to the Community Partnership 
Committee and to the Board Quality Improvement 
Committee. 
 
Consumer feedback to our staff is an important part of 
our continuous quality improvement program.  We thank 
all those who took the time this year to comment 
constructively and help us to meet your needs and 
expectations in the future. 
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Corporate Services 
Report prepared by Mr Jim Wilson 
Director Corporate Services 
 
Areas of responsibility: 

 Food Services, preparing and delivering approximately 
2,323 main meals and morning teas per week for Acute, 
St Elmo’s and Crossley House, also prepare meals for 
Meals on Wheels. 

 The provision of maintenance services to all Health 
Service properties, buildings and equipment. 

 Reception, Administration, Human Resources, 
Occupational Health and Safety, Environmental 
Services, Payroll, Stores and Finance services to the 
public and approximately 200 staff; volunteer 
coordination of 84 Volunteers and support services; 
Aged Care Administration and Information Technology. 

 Manage a team of approximately 33 FTE (approximately 
42 staff, comprising cleaning, kitchen, maintenance and 
administrative staff and coordinators) 

 
The Corporate Services Division works within the 
parameters of the 2015 2018 Strategic Plan’s organisation 
goals.  Progress towards these goals during the financial 
period is as follows: 
 
To provide health care that is responsive to people’s 
needs 
 
YDHS continues to pursue the concept of an integrated 
healthcare model which provides all Primary Care on the 
one site.  The vehicle we are using to achieve this strategy 
is the Integrated Healthcare Centre (IHC). 
 
Following completion of the design and specification of the 
IHC, the contract for construction was put to tender and 
awarded to a local Gippsland builder, TS Constructions of 
Wonthaggi – as part of the tender many local 
subcontractors have also been engaged.  Work on the 
demolition of the old Yarram Medical Centre commenced in 
December 2018 and was completed on the 1st of February 
2019. Construction commenced soon afterwards and is 
progressing well, it is anticipated that building will be 
complete by the end of 2019. 
 
As part of the demolition the old Horse Chestnut tree 
(below) growing near the old YMC needed to be removed,  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

YDHS grew some seedlings of the tree, 
some of which were given to interested 
staff and three others were given to Wellington Shire 
Council who will grow them on and plant them in a public 
place in Yarram, noting their history, so that their link with 
the original YDHS tree is not lost. 
 
So that YDHS is ready to move into the Integrated 
Healthcare Centre later this year an internal IHC 
Establishment and Transition Group has been formed to 
assist in determining customer service, staffing, systems 
and other arrangements.  Consultations are also being held 
with the YDHS Consumer Partnership Committee which is 
comprised of interested community members. 
 
To improve our community’s health status and 
experience 
 
Corporate Services continues to manage the YDHS 
Volunteer team to help customers, clients, patients and 
residents directly and indirectly with their health.  Our 
volunteers undertake activities such as: driving the 
Community Bus, maintaining gardens, helping feed 
residents; volunteers also assist with one on one 
activities such as reading, playing games and wheelchair 
walks, assist with sewing repairs, playing music and 
running groups such as craft and art therapy with 
residents.  Some volunteers participate in our Community 
Partnership Committee. 
 
To recognise our Volunteers, the great work they do and 
that they give so freely of their time, each year YDHS 
holds a Christmas thankyou and Volunteer Week function 
which is always popular and well attended. 
 
YDHS also supports the Federal Government’s Closing 
the Gap initiative to improve the health of indigenous 
people.  Each year YDHS holds a joint morning tea for a 
group of participants and staff from Wulgunggo Ngalu 
and YDHS staff.  The event allows YDHS staff to better 
understand some of the health needs of programme 
participants and allows participants opportunities to 
engage with Health Service staff and the Health System. 
  
To expand our services, workforce and system 
capacity  
 
To improve our management capacity this year we have 
commenced an organisational restructure to better 
address the management needs of the organisation.  
While changes have been made elsewhere in the 
organisation, in Corporate Services two new positions, 
Manager People and Business and Manager Facilities 
have been created, the positions have been funded by 
efficiencies and will amongst other things provide better 
career opportunities for staff. 
 
YDHS has engaged another Apprentice Chef in the 
kitchen to join our kitchen team in producing high quality, 
nutritious meals for our diners, this is part of our 
commitment to providing vocational training for local 
young people and provides a pathway for a career in 
cookery. 
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Corporate Services cont’d 
To improve our financial sustainability and productivity 
YDHS has an Energy Future Plan which seeks to achieve 
net zero energy usage along with meeting the Net Zero 
Emissions Reduction Target in line with Victorian 
Government commitment to legislate long term target for 
Victoria per recommendation of the Independent Review of the 
Climate Change Act 2010.  YDHS seeks to contribute to both 
our financial and environmental sustainability as a Health 
Service.   
 
This year we installed and commissioned in February 2019 
a 150kw solar system which has already cut our electricity 
bills in half.  At the same time all lighting has been upgraded 
to LED (Light Emitting Diode) which reduces energy 
consumption and provides better lighting.   
 
Our Energy Future Plan is forward looking and is compatible 
with adding more solar panels, energy storage batteries and 
the ability to do such things as provide charging stations for 
electric cars when these become affordable in the next few 
years. 
 
Work continues on investigating the construction of a Geo-
exchange, Geothermal central plant using warm ground 
water for all heating and cooling of the Health Service.  A 
conventional Central Heating, Ventilation, Air-conditioning 
and Cooling (HVAC) is also being built to provide heating 
and cooling to the new IHC, Acute, St Elmo’s and Crossley 
House.  The central plant is modular and will be able to 
accommodate the Geo-exchange, Geothermal central plant 
and extension of the HVAC system within the targeted 
facilities and other areas of the organisation.  Extension of 
the HVAC system will be activated as funds become 
available. 
 
This year YDHS has again been very successful in 
obtaining grants from Government to help finance our 
projects which continue to contribute to financial savings, 
better human health and a better planet. 
 
The assistance and support of the Department of Health 
and Human Services in our current and future endeavours is 
commended and highly appreciated. 
 
To implement continuous improvement and innovation 
in technology, work and clinical practices 
In improving our processes this year Corporate has 
completed the introduction of Kronos, an electronic 
timekeeping system, which feeds into the payroll system – 
this means that paper timesheets no longer need to be 
prepared.  The new system has also allowed for better 
reporting and managing of time. 
 
YDHS completed a Security Review this year which was 
sponsored by the Department of Health and Human 
Services, details of results of the Review are not yet known. 
 
To increase accountability and transparency to our 
community 
We sought to keep the community informed this year 
through greater use of our facebook page.  We attempted to 
be topical and prompt by posting relevant information as 
quickly as possible this allowed the community access to 
information well ahead of traditional media such as 
newspapers. 

Our Services and where to find us: 
 
Crossley House Hostel 
Main Entrance 
14 Nicol Street, Yarram 
P: 03 5182 0222 
 

St Elmo’s Nursing Home 
Main Entrance 
Devon Street, Yarram 
P: 03 5182 0222 
 

Yarram & District Health Service 
Main Entrance 
Devon Street, Yarram 
Administration Entrance 
85 Commercial Road, Yarram (closed due to 
construction work) 
 
Urgent Care Entrance 
Nicol Street, Yarram 
 
Edgar House 
20 Nicol Street, Yarram 
P: 5182 0222 
F: 5182 6081 
 

Yarram Medical Centre 
Main Entrance 
121 Commercial Road, Yarram 
P: 03 5182 0333 
F: 5182 6136 
 

Community, Youth & Family 
Services 
Main Entrance 
50 Bland Street, Yarram 
P: 1800 934 722 
F: 5182 0296 
 
 
Website: www.ydhs.com.au 
 
 

Funding Acknowledgement 
Yarram and District Health Service 
acknowledges the support of the Victorian and 
Commonwealth Governments. 
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Performance Indicators 

Workforce 
 

Labour Category 
JUNE 

Current Month FTE 
JUNE 

YTD FTE 
 2018 2019 2018 2019 

Nursing 31.55 30.13 36.95 37.31 
Administration and Clerical 20.98 22.50 22.98 23.80 
Medical Support     
Hotel & Allied Services 38.69 41.30 41.20 43.62 
Medical Officers 1.00 1.00 2.20 1.00 
Hospital Medical Officers     
Sessional Clinicians 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 
Ancillary Staff (Allied Health) 16.70 15.41 19.10 18.81 
Total: 109.02 110.44 122.53 124.64 

Note: PCAs are incorporated under Health & Allied Services 
 

Financial Reporting  
 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
OPERATING RESULT 
Total Revenue 16,372 15,029 13,884 12,051 12,412 
Total Expenses 15,803 14,255 15,144 13,386 13,599 
Net result from transactions 569 774 -1,260 -1,335 -1,187 
Total other economic flows -47 252 10 31 Nil 
Net result 522 1,026 -1,250 1304 -1,187 
Total assets 33,793 26,288 24,384 24,629 25,464 
Total Liabilities 8,190 8,065   7,187 6,183 5,713 
Net assets/Total equity 25,603 18,223 17,197 18,446 19,751 

 
 

Financial Reporting  
 2019 
 $000 
Net operating result (443) 
CAPITAL AND SPECIFIC ITEMS  
Capital purpose income 2,303 
 Specific income Nil 
Assets provided free of charge Nil 
Assets received free of charge Nil 
Expenditure for capital purpose Nil 
Depreciation and amortisation 1,291 
Impairment of non-financial assets Nil 
Finance costs (other) Nil 
  
Net result from transactions 569 

 

Summary of Financial Results  
Yarram and District Health Service have recorded $443,220 as a net operating deficit before capital and specific items in 
2018/2019.  The Statement of Priorities target net operating deficit was $135,000.   
 
The budgetary objectives for 2018/2019 were attained despite an operating deficit.   
 
 

Subsequent Events 
There were no events subsequent to the balance sheet date that may have a significant effect on the operational 
objectives of the organisation in subsequent years.  
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Contracted Services  
 
Accounting 
DMG Financial Planning 

Aged Care Assessment Services 
Latrobe Community Health 
Alcohol and Drug Counselling 
Australian Community Support Organisation 

Allied Psychological Services 
Gippsland Primary Health Network 

Audiology 
Previn Pillay 

Cardiac Services 
Australian Cardiac Services 

Centrelink Services 
Centrelink 

Consumer Affairs 
Consumer Affairs Victoria 

Continence Advice 
Central Gippsland Health Services 

Dialysis 
The Royal Melbourne Hospital 

Dietetics  
South Gippsland Hospital 

Employee Assistance Program 
Converge International 

Family Violence 
Quantum 

Financial Counselling 
Anglicare Victoria 

Fire System Maintenance 
Valley Fire & Security 

Geriatrics 
Dr Krishna Mandaleson 

IT Support 
Gippsland Health Alliance 

Medication Management 
Kathleen MacAulay 

Optometry 
Harris Blake & Parson 

Pathology 
Dorevitch 

Pharmacy 
Central Gippsland Health Service 

Podiatry 
Gippsland Foot Clinic Ltd 
Psychiatric 
Latrobe Regional Hospital 
Psychology 
Christine Gawith 
Radiologists 
Central Gippsland Health Service 
Radiology 
Central Gippsland Health Service 
Security 
Premier Security Service 
 

Sterilisation 
Latrobe Regional Hospital 
Supply of Fruit and Vegetables 
Aherns Fruit Market 
Supply of Meat 
Moores Family Butchers Pty Ltd 

Telehealth Service 
Latrobe Regional Hospital 

Family Violence Counselling 
Uniting 

Waste Disposal 
JJ Richards & Sons Pty Ltd 

Website 
Yart 

Women’s GP Services 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia 
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Community Participation and Services  

Services  
YDHS provides and supports the provision of a range of 
services that are designed to meet the needs of 
individuals and groups within its catchment population 
of approximately 5,580 people. 

Acute Services 
 20 bed facility 
 Medical, Post-surgical and Inpatient rehabilitation 
 Urgent Care Services 
 Respite Care 
 Maintenance Dialysis 
 Transitional Care Program 

Allied Health Services 
 Physiotherapy 
 Occupational Therapy 
 Speech Pathology 
 Dietetics 
 Podiatry 

Commonwealth Home Support Program 
(for people aged 65 yrs and over) 
 Flexible Respite 
 Home maintenance 
 Meals 
 Nursing 
 Personal Care 
 Social Support – group 
 Allied Health and Therapy services 
 Domestic Assistance 

Home and Community Care (HACC) 

program for younger people (for people aged 
less than 65 yrs) 
 Delivered meals 
 Allied Health – dietetics, occupational therapy, 

physiotherapy, podiatry, speech pathology 
 Assessment and Care Coordination 
 Domestic assistance 
 Nursing 
 Property maintenance 
 Personal Care 
 Respite home 
 Planned Activity Groups 
 Volunteer Coordination 

Ancillary Services 
 Pathology 
 Visiting Radiology 
 Pharmacy 

Community Mental Health Services 
 Gippsland Psychiatric Services – is a LRH co-

located service. 

Community Participation 
  Yarram and District Community Hub Committee 
  Yarram Secondary College Youth Week 
  Aged Care Forum 
  Fable Café talks 
 

 Community Participation cont’d 
 Seniors Weeks 
 StreetSmart Café 
 PitStop 
 Women’s Health Event 

Community Health Services 
 Community Nursing 
 Regional assessment service 
 Wound care 
 Maternal and Child Health 
 Diabetes education 
 Foot clinic 
 Health promotion 
 Palliative Care 
 Planned mental health respite 

 Access to Allied Psychological Services (ATAPS) 
Social Services 
 Emergency Relief Program 
 Homelessness Support 
 Integrated Family Services 
 Child First 
 Generalist Counselling 
 Social Work 
 Youth ENGAGE program 

Residential Services 
 St Elmo’s Nursing Home -12 dementia specific 

low care beds and 18 high care beds (now 
Ageing in Place) 

 Crossley House – residential aged care, 30 low 
care beds, including short-term respite 

 Respite accommodation 

Support Groups 
 Combined Dementia/Heart/Cancer Group 
 Walk & Talk Group 
 Carers Group 
 ‘’Know your Rights’’ Group 
 Swimming Group 
 Balance and Mobility group 
 Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation group 
 Safe Moves 
 Social Skills group 

Yarram Medical Centre 
 General practitioners 
 Practice nurse 

Visiting Services 
 Optometrist 
 Cardiac Diagnostics 
 Continence Nurse 
 Chronic Disease Nurse 
 Podiatry (Gippsland Foot Clinic) 
 Audiology Service 
 Psychologist and Counselling Service 
 General Physician 
 Women’s Health GP – Royal Flying Doctor Service 
 LCHS Alcohol and Drug Counselling 
 LCHS Gamblers Help 
 Anglicare Financial Counselling 
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Disclosure Index 
The Annual Report of the Yarram and District Health Service is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian 
legislation. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the YDHS’ compliance with statutory 
disclosure requirements. 

 
 
 
Legislation 

 
 
Requirement 

Page 
Reference 

(Annual 
Report) 

Ministerial Directions 

Report of Operations  

Charter and purpose 

FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 4, 18 
FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties 3 
FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided 39 
FRD 22H Activities, programs and achievements for the reporting period 7-12 
FRD 22H Significant changes in key initiatives and expectations for the 

future 
7, 8 

Management and Structure 

FRD 22H Organisational Structure 19 
FRD 22H Workforce data/employment and conduct principles 22, 37 
FRD 22H Occupational Health and Safety 21 

Financial information 

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year 37 
FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position during the year 7 
FRD 22H Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against 

objectives 
13-15 

FRD 22H Subsequent events 37 
 

FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10,000 22 
FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10,000 22 
FRD 22H Disclosure of ICT expenditure 23 

Legislation 

FRD 22H Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 23 
FRD 22H Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building 

Act 1993 
22 

FRD 22H Application and operation of Protected Disclosure 2012 23 
FRD 22H Statement of National Competition Policy 23 
FRD 22H Application and operation of Carers Recognition Act 2012 22 
FRD 22H Summary of the entity’s environmental performance 23 
FRD 22H Additional information available on request 21 

Other relevant reporting directives 

FRD 25D Local Jobs First Act disclosures 23 
SD 5.1.4 Financial Management Compliance attestation 20 

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations 4 

Attestations 

Attestation on Data Integrity 20 
Attestation on managing Conflicts of Interest 20 
Attestation on Integrity, fraud and corruption 20 
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Disclosure Index 

 
 
 
Legislation 

 
 
Requirement 

Page 
Reference 

(Annual 
Report) 

Other reporting requirements  

 Reporting of outcomes from Statements of Priorities 2018 2019 10-15 

 Occupational Violence reporting 21 

 Reporting of compliance Health Purchasing Victoria policy 21 
 Reporting obligations under the Safe Patient Care Act 2015 23 
 Reporting of compliance regarding Car Parking Fees N/A  

  
 

 
 
 
 
______________________________________________ 
Ms Frankie MacLennan 
Board Chair 
 
         
 
 
Ms Bernadette Wardle 
Chief Executive Officer and Accountable Officer 
  
Dated the 29 day of  
Yarram, Victoria 
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Glossary of Terms 
 

AACQA – Australian Aged Care Quality Agency 
ACAS – Aged Care Assessment Service 
ACFI – Aged Care Funding Instrument 
ACHS – Australian Council on Healthcare Standards 
ACP – Advance Care Planning 
ACSO – Australian Community Support Organisation 
ACWA – Australian Community Workers Association 
ASM – Active Service Model 
ATSI – Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
CHH – Crossley House Hostel 
CHSP – Commonwealth Home Support Program 
CRAF – Crisis Response Assessment Framework 
CRE – Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 
DAP – Daily Accommodation Payment 
DHHS – Department of Health and Human Services 
DRGs – Diagnosis Related Groups 
EFP – Energy Future Plan 
FTE – Fulltime Equivalent 
FV – Family Violence 
GEGAC - Gippsland & East Gippsland Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd 
GP – General Practitioner 
GPHN – Gippsland Primary Health Network 
HACC – Home and Community Care 
HACC PYP – Home and Community Care Program for Younger People 
HASS – Homelessness Assistance Support Service 
HPO – Health Promotion Officer 
HVAC – Heating Ventilation Air Conditioning  
IHCC – Integrated HealthCare Centre 
INR – International Normalised Ratio 
KPI – Key Performance Indicator 
MBS – Medicare Benefit Schedule  
MCHN – Maternal & Child Health Nurse 
NDIS – National Disability Insurance Scheme 
OHS – Occupational Health & Safety 
PAG – Planned Activity Group 
PCP – Primary Care Partnership 
PSRACS – Public Sector Residential Aged Care Services 
RACGP – Royal Australian College of General Practitioners 
RAD – Refundable Accommodation Deposit 
RAS – Regional Assessment Services  
ReHSeN – Regional Health Service eLearning Network 
RHIF – Regional Health Infrastructure Fund 
RBB – Ralph & Beattie Bosworth Pty Ltd 
SENH – St Elmo’s Nursing Home 
TCP – Transitional Care Program 
VicPol – Victoria Police 
VMO – Visiting Medical Officer 
WPCP – Wellington Primary Care Partnership 
WSYC – Wellington Shire Youth Council 
Y&FS – Youth & Family Service 
YDHS – Yarram & District Health Service 
YMC – Yarram Medical Centre 
YYU – Yarram Youth United 
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Yarram	&	District	Health	Service		
Financial	Report	
	
How	this	report	is	structured		
Yarram & District Health Service has presented its audited general purpose financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2019 in the following structure to provide users with the information about 
Yarram & District Health Service’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it. 
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Comprehensive operating statement 

Yarram	&	District	Health	Service		
Comprehensive	Operating	Statement 
For	the	Financial	Year	Ended	30	June	2019	
  

 

 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Balance Sheet 

Yarram	&	District	Health	Service		
Balance	Sheet	as	at	30	June	2019	

 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

Yarram	&	District	Health	Service		
Statement	of	Changes	in	Equity 
For	the	Financial	Year	Ended	30	June	2019	
 

 
  

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Cash flow statement 

Yarram	&	District	Health	Service		
Cash	flow	Statement 
For	the	Financial	Year	Ended	30	June	2019	

 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying note



 
 

 
 
 

Yarram and District Health Service 2018-2019 ANNUAL REPORT        53      

Notes to the financial statements 

Notes to the financial statements 

Yarram	&	District	Health	Service		
Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements 

For	the	Financial	Year	Ended	30	June	2019	

Basis of preparation 
These financial statements are in Australian dollars and the historical cost convention is used unless a 
different measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note associated with the item measured on a 
different basis.  

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in preparing these financial statements, whereby 
assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they 
relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.  

Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements for 
Yarram & District Health Service for the year ended 30 June 2019. The report provides users with 
information about Yarram & District Health Service’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it. 

(a)	Statement	of	Compliance	
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable AASBs, which include 
interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). They are presented in a 
manner consistent with the requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements. 

The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the 
Department of Treasury and Finance, and relevant Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by the Assistant 
Treasurer. 

Yarram & District Health Service is a not-for-profit entity and therefore applies the additional AUS 
paragraphs applicable to "not-for-profit" Health Service under the AASBs. 

(b)		Reporting	Entity		
The financial statements include all the controlled activities of Yarram & District Health Service.  

Its principal address is:  

85-91 Commercial Road 

Yarram, Victoria 3971 

A description of the nature of Yarram & District Health Service’s operations and its principal activities is 
included in the report of operations, which does not form part of these financial statements. 

(c)	Basis	of	Accounting	Preparation	and	Measurement	
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the 
underlying transactions or other events is reported. 
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The accounting policies have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2019, and the comparative information presented in these financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2018. 

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis (refer to Note 8.8 Economic 
Dependency). 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation currency 
of Yarram & District Health Service. 

All amounts shown in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar, unless otherwise 
stated. Minor discrepancies in tables between totals and sum of components are due to rounding. 

The Yarram & District Health Service operates on a fund accounting basis and maintains two funds: 
Operating and Specific Purpose Funds. The Yarram & District Health Service’s Specific Purpose Fund 
includes Refundable Accommodation Deposits received from Aged Care residents. 

The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the accrual basis 
of accounting. Under the accrual basis, items are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income or 
expenses when they satisfy the definitions and recognition criteria for those items, that is, they are 
recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in 
future periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in 
the application of AABSs that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:  

 The fair value of land, buildings and plant and equipment (refer to Note 4.2 Property, Plant and 
Equipment); 

 Defined benefit superannuation expense (refer to Note 3.4 Superannuation); and  
 Employee benefit provisions are based on likely tenure of existing staff, patterns of leave claims, 

future salary movements and future discount rates (refer to Note 3.3 Employee Benefits in the 
Balance Sheet). 

Goods	and	Services	Tax	(GST)	
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In this case the GST payable is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables 
in the Balance Sheet.  

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the ATO, are presented as operating cash 
flow. 

Commitments and contingent assets and liabilities are presented on a gross basis. 

(d)		Jointly	Controlled	Operation		
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 
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In respect of any interest in joint operations, Yarram & District Health Service recognises in the financial 
statements: 

 its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;  
 any liabilities including its share of liabilities that it had incurred;  
 its revenue from the sale of its share of the output from the joint operation; 
 its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the operation; and 
 its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 

Yarram & District Health Service is a member of the Gippsland Health Alliance Joint Venture and retains 
joint control over the arrangement, which it has classified as a joint operation (refer to Note 8.7 Jointly 
Controlled Operations) 

	(e)	Equity	

Contributed	Capital	
Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004 Contributions, contributions by owners (that is, 
contributed capital and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do not form part 
of the income and expenses of the Yarram & District Health Service.  

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to or 
contributions by owners. Transfers of net liabilities arising from administrative restructurings are treated 
as distributions to owners.  

Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or distributions or that have been designated as 
contributed capital are also treated as contributed capital. 

Specific	Restricted	Purpose	Surplus	
The Specific Restricted Purpose Surplus is established where Yarram & District Health Service has 
possession or title to the funds but has no discretion to amend or vary the restriction and/or condition 
underlying the funds received. 

(f)	Comparatives	
 
Where applicable, the comparative figures have been restated to align with the presentation in the 
current year. Figures have been restated at Balance Sheet, Cash Flow Statement and Notes 2.1, 3.1, 3.3 
and 5.2 
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Note: 2 Funding delivery of our services  
Yarram & District Health Service’s overall objective is to provide quality health service that 
support and enhance the wellbeing of all Victorians. Yarram & District Health Service is predominantly 
funded by accrual based grant funding for the provision of outputs. Yarram & District Health Service also 
receives income from the supply of services. 

Structure 

2.1 Income from Transactions 

Note 2.1: Income from Transactions  

 

 

Revenue	Recognition	
Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue and is recognised as to the extent that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to Yarram & District Health Service and the income can be 
reliably measured at fair value. Unearned income at reporting date is reported as income received in 
advance. 

Amounts disclosed as revenue are, where applicable, net of returns, allowances, duties and taxes. 

Government	Grants	and	Other	Transfers	of	Income	(other	than	contributions	by	owners)	
In accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions, government grants and other transfers of income (other 
than contributions by owners) are recognised as income when Yarram & District Health Service gains 
control of the underlying assets irrespective of whether conditions are imposed on Yarram & District   
Health Service’s use of the contributions. 

The Department of Health and Human Services makes certain payments on behalf of Yarram & District   
Health Service. These amounts have been brought to account as grants in determining the operating 
result for the year by recording them as revenue. 

Contributions are deferred as income in advance when Yarram & District Health Service has a present 
obligation to repay them and the present obligation can be reliably measured. 

Non‐cash	contributions	from	the	Department	of	Health	and	Human	Services	
The Department of Health and Human Services makes some payments on behalf of health services as 
follows: 
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 The Victorian Managed Insurance Authority non-medical indemnity insurance payments are 
recognised as revenue following advice from the Department of Health and Human Services 

 Long Service Leave (LSL) revenue is recognised upon finalisation of movements in LSL liability 
in line with the long service leave funding arrangements set out in the relevant Department of 
Health and Human Services Hospital Circular 

Patient	and	Resident	Fees	
Patient and resident fees are recognised as revenue on an accrual basis. 

Private	Practice	Fees	
Private practice fees are recognised as revenue at the time invoices are raised, and include recoupments 
from private practice for the use of hospital facilities. 

Revenue	from	Commercial	Activities	
Revenue from commercial activities such as property rental income are recognised on an accrual basis. 

Fair	value	of	assets	and	services	received	free	of	charge	or	for	nominal	consideration	
Resources received free of charge or for nominal consideration are recognised at their fair value when 
the transferee obtains control over them, irrespective of whether restrictions or conditions are imposed 
over the use of the contributions, unless received from another Health Service or agency as a 
consequence of a restructuring of administrative arrangements.  In the latter case, such transfer will be 
recognised at carrying amount.  Contributions in the form of services are only recognised when a fair 
value can be reliably determined and the service would have been purchased if not received as a 
donation. 

Other	Income	
Other income is recognised as revenue when received. Other income includes recoveries for salaries 
and wages and external services provided, and donations and bequests. If donations are for a specific 
purpose, they may be appropriated to a surplus, such as the specific restricted purpose surplus. 

Interest	Revenue	
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield of 
the financial asset, which allocates interest over the relevant period. 
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Note 3: The cost of delivering our services 
This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by the hospital in delivering 
services and outputs. In Section 2, the funds that enable the provision of services were disclosed and in 
this note the cost associated with provision of services are recorded.  

Structure 

3.1 Expenses from Transactions 

3.2 Other Economic Flows 

3.3 Employee benefits in the Balance Sheet 

3.4 Superannuation 

Note 3.1: Expenses from transactions 

 

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate. 

Employee	Expenses	
Employee expenses include: 

 Salaries and wages (including fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, termination payments); 
 On-costs; 
 Agency expenses; 
 Fee for service medical officer expenses; 
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 Work cover premium. 

Supplies	and	consumables	
Supplies and consumables - Supplies and services costs which are recognised as an expense in the 
reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any inventories held for distribution 
are expensed when distributed. 

Finance	costs		
Finance costs include: 

 interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-term borrowings (Interest expense is 
recognised in the period in which it is incurred); 

 amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings; and 
 amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings. 

 

Other	Operating	Expenses	
Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations 
and include such things as:  

 Fuel, light and power 
 Repairs and maintenance 
 Other administrative expenses 
 Expenditure for capital purposes (represents expenditure related to the purchase of assets that 

are below the capitalisation threshold).  

The Department of Health and Human Services also makes certain payments on behalf of Yarram & 
District Health Service. These amounts have been brought to account as grants in determining the 
operating result for the year by recording them as revenue and also recording the related expense. 

Non‐operating	expenses	
Other non-operating expenses generally represent expenditure for outside the normal operations such as 
depreciation and amortisation, and assets and services provided free of charge or for nominal 
consideration. 
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Note 3.2: Other Economic Flows  

    

 

 

Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not result from 
transactions. Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains or losses from: 

 the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in the bond 
interest rates; and 

 reclassified amounts relating to available-for-sale financial instruments from the reserves to net 
result due to a disposal or derecognition of the financial instrument. This does not include 
reclassification between equity accounts due to machinery of government changes or ‘other 
transfers’ of assets. 

Net	gain/	(loss)	on	non‐financial	assets	
Net gain/ (loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses 
as follows: 

 Revaluation gains/ (losses) of non-financial physical assets (Refer to Note 4.2 Property plant and 
equipment.) 

 Net gain/ (loss) on disposal of non-financial assets 
 Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date of disposal. 

Net	gain/	(loss)	on	financial	instruments	at	fair	value	
Net gain/ (loss) on financial instruments at fair value includes: 

 realised and unrealised gains and losses from revaluations of financial instruments at fair value; 
 impairment and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost refer to Note 

4.1 Investments and other financial assets; and 
 disposals of financial assets and derecognition of financial liabilities. 

Other	gains/	(losses)	from	other	economic	flows	
Other gains/ (losses) include: 

 the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in the bond 
rate movements, inflation rate movements and the impact of changes in probability factors; and 
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 transfer of amounts from the reserves to accumulated surplus or net result due to disposal or 
derecognition or reclassification. 

Inventories	
Inventories include goods and other property held either for sale, consumption or for distribution at no or 
nominal cost in the ordinary course of business operations. It excludes depreciable assets. 

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted for any loss of service potential. All other 
inventories, including land held for sale, are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Inventories acquired for no cost or nominal considerations are measured at current replacement cost at 
the date of acquisition. 

The basis used in assessing loss of service potential for inventories held for distribution include current 
replacement cost and technical or functional obsolescence.  Technical obsolescence occurs when an 
item still functions for some or all the tasks it was originally acquired to do, but no longer matches 
existing technologies.  Functional obsolescence occurs when an item no longer functions the way it did 
when it was first acquired. 

Fair	Value	of	Assets,	Services Provided	Free	of	Charge	or	for	Nominal	Consideration 

Contributions of resources provided free of charge or for nominal consideration are recognised at their 
fair value when the transferee obtains control over them. 
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Note 3.3: Employee benefits in the balance sheet 

 

 
i Employee benefits consist of amounts for accrued days off, annual leave and long service 
leave accrued by employees, not including on-costs. 
ii The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts. 
iii The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values. 
 
(a) Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs 
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(b) Movement in On-Costs Provision 

 

Employee	Benefit	Recognition	
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and 
long service leave for services rendered to the reporting date as an expense during the period the 
services are delivered. 

Provisions	
Provisions are recognised when Yarram & District Health Service has a present obligation, the future 
sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. 

The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation.  

Annual	Leave	and	Accrued	Days	Off	
Liabilities for annual leave and accrued days off are recognised in the provision for employee benefits as 
'current liabilities' because Yarram & District Health Service does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlements of these liabilities. 

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for annual leave and accrued days off 
are measured at: 

Nominal value – if Yarram & District Health Service expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or 

Present value – if Yarram & District Health Service does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months. 

Long	Service	Leave	
The liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. 

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability even where 
Yarram & District Health Service does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not 
have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave 
within 12 months. An unconditional right arises after a qualifying period. 

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at: 

 Nominal value – if Yarram & District Health Service expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or 
 Present value – if Yarram & District Health Service does not expect to wholly settle within 12 

months. 

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability.  Any gain or loss followed revaluation of the 
present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain 



 

Page 64     Yarram & District Health Service Annual Report 2018/2019 

Notes to the financial statements 

or loss arises due to changes in estimations e.g. bond rate movements, inflation rate 
movements and changes in probability factors which are then recognised as other economic 
flows. 

Termination	Benefits	
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or 
when an employee decides to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. 

On‐Costs	Related	to	Employee	Benefits	
Provision for on-costs such as workers compensation and superannuation are recognised separately 
from provisions for employee benefits. 

Note 3.4: Superannuation 

 

 

Employees of Yarram & District Health Service are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and it 
contributes to defined contribution plans.  

Defined	Contribution	Superannuation	Plans	
In relation to defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) superannuation plans, the associated expense is 
simply the employer contributions that are paid or payable in respect of employees who are members of 
these plans during the reporting period. Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are 
expensed when incurred. 
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Note 4: Key Assets to support service delivery 
Yarram & District Health Service controls infrastructure and other investments that are 
utilised in fulfilling its objectives and conducting its activities. They represent the key resources that 
have been entrusted to Yarram & District Health Service to be utilised for delivery of those outputs. 

 

Structure 

4.1 Investments and other financial assets 

4.2 Property, plant & equipment 

4.3 Depreciation and amortisation  

 

Note 4.1: Investments and other financial assets 

 

Investment	Recognition	
Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment 
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by 
the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.  

Investments are classified as loans and receivables or available-for-sale financial assets. 

The Yarram & District Health Service classifies its other financial assets between current and non-
current assets based on the Board’s intention at balance date with respect to the timing of disposal of 
each asset.  Yarram & District Health Service assesses at each balance sheet date whether a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

Yarram & District Health Service's investments must comply with Standing Direction 3.7.2 - Treasury 
Management, including Central Banking System.  

All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through the Comprehensive Operating 
Statement are subject to annual review for impairment. 
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Derecognition	of	Financial	Assets		
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of 
similar financial assets) is derecognised when:  

 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or  
 Yarram & District Health Service retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has 

assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass 
through’ arrangement; or  

 Yarram & District Health Service has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
and either:  

 Has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or  
 Has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but 

has transferred control of the asset. 

Where Yarram & District Health Service has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards or transferred control, the asset is recognised to the extent of Yarram & District Health 
Service’s continuing involvement in the asset. 

Impairment	of	Financial	Assets	
At the end of each reporting period, Yarram & District Health Service assesses whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. All financial 
instrument assets, except those measured at fair value through the Comprehensive Income 
Statement, are subject to annual review for impairment. 

In order to determine an appropriate fair value as at 30 June 2019 for its portfolio of financial assets, 
Yarram & District Health Service used the market value of investments held provided by the portfolio 
managers. 

The above valuation process was used to quantify the level of impairment (if any) on the portfolio of 
financial assets as at year end. 

 

Note 4.2: Property, plant and equipment 

Initial	Recognition	
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair 
value less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Where an asset is acquired for no or 
nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition. Assets transferred as part of a 
merger/machinery of government change are transferred at their carrying amounts. 

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised as an asset and depreciated over the shorter of 
the remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvements. 

Theoretical opportunities that may be available in relation to the asset(s) are not taken into account 
until it is virtually certain that any restrictions will no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise 
disclosed, the current use of these non-financial physical assets will be their highest and best uses. 

Land and buildings are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. 

Revaluations	of	Non‐Current	Physical	Assets	
Non-current physical assets are measured at fair value and are revalued in accordance with FRD 
103G Non-Current Physical Assets.  This revaluation process normally occurs every five years, based 
upon the asset's Government Purpose Classification, but may occur more frequently if fair value 
assessments indicate material changes in values. Independent valuers are used to conduct these 
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scheduled revaluations and any interim revaluations are determined in accordance with 
the requirements of the FRDs. Revaluation increments or decrements arise from 
differences between an asset’s carrying value and fair value. 

Revaluation increments are recognised in ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ and are credited directly to 
the asset revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation 
decrement in respect of that same class of asset previously recognised as an expense in net result, 
the increment is recognised as income in the net result. 

Revaluation decrements are recognised in ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ to the extent that a credit 
balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of property, plant and 
equipment. 

Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within an asset class 
are offset against one another within that class but are not offset in respect of assets in different 
classes.  

Revaluation surplus is not transferred to accumulated funds on de-recognition of the relevant asset, 
except where an asset is transferred via contributed capital. 

In accordance with FRD 103G, Yarram & District Health Service's non-current physical assets were 
assessed to determine whether revaluation of the non-current physical assets was required. 

Fair	value	measurement	
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Yarram & District Health Service has determined classes of 
assets on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy as explained above. 

In addition, Yarram & District Health Service determines whether transfers have occurred between 
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is Yarram & District Health Service’s independent valuation 
agency. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Valuation	hierarchy	
In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. To increase consistency and comparability in 
the financial statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, also known as the fair value 
hierarchy. The levels are as follows:  

 Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
 Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and  
 Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is unobservable.  

Identifying	unobservable	inputs	(level	3)	fair	value	measurements	

Level 3 fair value inputs are unobservable valuation inputs for an asset or liability. These inputs 
require significant judgement and assumptions in deriving fair value for both financial and non-
financial assets. 
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Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value to the extent that relevant observable 
inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, 
market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date. However, the fair value 
measurement objective remains the same, i.e., an exit price at the measurement date from the 
perspective of a market participant that holds the asset or owes the liability. Therefore, unobservable 
inputs shall reflect the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 
liability, including assumptions about risk. 

Consideration	of	highest	and	best	use	(HBU)	for	non‐financial	physical	assets	
Judgements about highest and best use must take into account the characteristics of the assets 
concerned, including restrictions on the use and disposal of assets arising from the asset’s physical 
nature and any applicable legislative/contractual arrangements. 

In accordance with paragraph AASB 13.29, Yarram & District Health Service has assumed the current 
use of a non-financial physical asset is its HBU unless market or other factors suggest that a different 
use by market participants would maximise the value of the asset. 

Non‐Specialised	Land	and	Non‐Specialised	Buildings		
Non-specialised land and non-specialised buildings are valued using the market approach. Under this 
valuation method, the assets are compared to recent comparable sales or sales of comparable assets 
which are considered to have nominal or no added improvement value. 

For non-specialised land and non-specialised buildings, an independent valuation was performed by 
the Valuer-General Victoria to determine the fair value using the market approach. Valuation of the 
assets was determined by analysing comparable sales and allowing for share, size, topography, 
location and other relevant factors specific to the asset being valued. An appropriate rate per square 
metre has been applied to the subject asset. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2019. 

Specialised	Land	and	Specialised	Buildings	

Specialised land includes Crown Land which is measured at fair value with regard to the property’s 
highest and best use after due consideration is made for any legal or physical restrictions imposed on 
the asset, public announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset. 
Theoretical opportunities that may be available in relation to the assets are not taken into account 
until it is virtually certain that any restrictions will no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise 
disclosed, the current use of these non-financial physical assets will be their highest and best use. 

During the reporting period, Yarram & District Health Service held Crown Land. The nature of this 
asset means that there are certain limitations and restrictions imposed on its use and/or disposal that 
may impact their fair value. 

The market approach is also used for specialised land and specialised buildings although it is 
adjusted for the community service obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of the assets 
being valued. Specialised assets contain significant, unobservable adjustments; therefore these 
assets are classified as Level 3 under the market based direct comparison approach. 

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated 
with an asset to the extent that is also equally applicable to market participants. This approach is in 
light of the highest and best use consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes into 
account the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. As 
adjustments of CSO are considered as significant unobservable inputs, specialised land would be 
classified as Level 3 assets.  

For Yarram & District Health Service, the depreciated replacement cost method is used for the 
majority of specialised buildings, adjusting for the associated depreciation. As depreciation 
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adjustments are considered as significant and unobservable inputs in nature, specialised 
buildings are classified as Level 3 for fair value measurements. 

An independent valuation of Yarram & District Health Service’s specialised land and specialised 
buildings was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria. The valuation was performed using the 
market approach adjusted for CSO. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2019. 

Vehicles	
The Yarram & District Health Service acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before 
completion of their economic life. The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is 
managed by the Health Service who set relevant depreciation rates during use to reflect the 
consumption of the vehicles. As a result, the fair value of vehicles does not differ materially from the 
carrying amount (depreciated cost). 

Plant	and	Equipment	
Plant and equipment (including medical equipment, computers and communication equipment and 
furniture and fittings) are held at carrying amount (depreciated cost). When plant and equipment is 
specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, the depreciated 
replacement cost is used to estimate the fair value. Unless there is market evidence that current 
replacement costs are significantly different from the original acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely 
that depreciated replacement cost will be materially different from the existing carrying amount.  

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2019.  

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use. 
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Note 4.2 (a): Property, plant and equipment –Gross carrying amount and 
accumulated depreciation 

 

Note 4.2 (b): Property, plant and equipment – Reconciliations of carrying amount by class of 
asset 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Yarram and District Health Service 2018-2019 ANNUAL REPORT        71      

Notes to the financial statements 

Land and Buildings Carried at Valuation 

The Valuer-General Victoria undertook to re-value all of Yarram & District Health 
Service's owned land and buildings to determine their fair value. The valuation, which conforms to 
Australian Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to the amounts for which assets could 
be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction. The valuation 
was based on independent assessments. The effective date of the valuation was 30 June 2019. 

 

Note 4.2 (c); Property, plant and equipment – fair value measurement hierarchy for assets 

 

 

i Classified in accordance with the fair value 
hierarchy.   
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Note 4.2 (d): Property, plant and equipment – Reconciliation of level 3 Fair Value 
measurement 
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Note 4.2 (e): Property, plant and equipment – fair value determination  

 

 

Note 4.2 (f): Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus 
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Note 4.3: Depreciation  

 

  

Depreciation 

All infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets 
(excluding items under operating leases, assets held for sale, land and investment properties) that 
have finite useful lives are depreciated. Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis at 
rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual value over its estimated useful life.  

The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non-current assets on which the depreciation 
and amortisation charges are based.  

 

 

 As part of the building valuation, building values are separated into components and each component 
assessed for its useful life which is represented above. 
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Note 5: Other assets and liabilities 
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from Yarram & District Health 
Service's operations. 

 

Structure 

5.1 Receivables 

5.2 Payables 

5.3 Other liabilities 
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Note 5.1: Receivables 

 

  
Note 5.1 (a): Movement in the Allowance for impairment losses of contractual 
receivables 
 

	

Receivables recognition 

Receivables consist of: 

 Contractual receivables, which consists of debtors in relation to goods and services and 
accrued investment income. These receivables are classified as financial instruments and 
categorised as ‘financial assets at amortised costs’. They are initially recognised at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Yarram & District Health Service holds the 
contractual receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore 
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subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment.  

 Statutory receivables, which predominantly includes amounts owing from the Victorian 
Government and Goods and Services Tax (GST) input tax credits recoverable. Statutory 
receivables do not arise from contracts and are recognised and measured similarly to 
contractual receivables (except for impairment), but are not classified as financial instruments 
for disclosure purposes. Yarram & District   Health Service applies AASB 9 for initial 
measurement of the statutory receivables and as a result statutory receivables are initially 
recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction cost. 

Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due and are due for settlement within 30 days from the 
date of recognition.  

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial 
instruments, professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates, averages and 
other computational methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. 

Yarram & District Health Service is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single 
counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. Trade receivables consist 
of a large number of customers in various geographical areas. Based on historical information about 
customer default rates, management consider the credit quality of trade receivables that are not past 
due or impaired to be good. 

Impairment losses of contractual receivables 

Refer to Note 7.1 (c) Contractual receivables at amortised costs for Yarram & District Health Service’s 
contractual impairment losses. 

Note 5.2: Payables 
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Payables	Recognition	

Payables consist of: 

 contractual payables, classified as financial instruments and measured at amortised cost. 
Accounts payable and salaries and wages payable represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Yarram & District Health Service prior to the end of the financial year that are 
unpaid; and  

 statutory payables, that are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but 
are not classified as financial instruments and not included in the category of financial 
liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from contracts. 

The normal credit terms for accounts payable are usually Nett 60 days. 
  

Maturity	analysis	of	payables	
Please refer to Note 7.1(b) for the ageing analysis of payables. 

Note 5.3: Other Liabilities 
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Note 6: How we finance our operations  
This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by Yarram & District 
Health Service during its operations, along with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) and other 
information related to financing activities of Yarram & District Health Service. 

This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as borrowings and 
cash balances).  Note 7.1 provides additional, specific financial instrument disclosures. 

 

Structure 

6.1 Borrowings  

6.2 Cash and cash equivalents  

6.3 Commitments for expenditure  
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Note 6.1: Borrowings 

 

 

 

 (i) These are unsecured loans which bear no interest.  
 

Maturity	analysis	of	borrowings	
Please refer to Note 7.1(b) for the ageing analysis of borrowings. 

	Defaults	and	breaches	
During the current and prior year, there were no defaults and breaches of any of the loans. 

Borrowings	Recognition	
A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment. Leases are 
classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of 
the agreement so as to reflect the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 

Leases of property, plant and equipment are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the 
lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are 
classified as operating leases. The Health Service does not hold any operating lease arrangements 
with other parties. 

Finance	Leases	
The Health Service does not hold any finance lease arrangements with other parties. 

Borrowings	
All borrowings are initially recognised at fair value of the consideration received, less directly 
attributable transaction costs. The measurement basis subsequent to initial recognition depends on 
whether the Yarram & District Health Service has categorised its liability as either ‘financial liabilities 
designated at fair value through profit or loss’, or financial liabilities at ‘amortised cost’.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, interest bearing borrowings are measured at amortised cost with any 
difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in the 
net result over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method. Non-interest bearing 
borrowings are measured at ‘fair value through profit or loss’. 
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Note 6.2: Cash and cash equivalents 

  

 

Cash and cash equivalents recognised on the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and in banks, 
deposits at call and highly liquid investments (with an original maturity date of three months or less), 
which are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash commitments rather than for investment 
purposes, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant 
risk of changes in value.  

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts, 
which are included as liabilities on the balance sheet. The cash flow statement includes monies held 
in trust. 

Note 6.3: Commitments for expenditure 

 
Commitments 

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from 
contracts. These commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and are inclusive of the GST 
payable. In addition, where it is considered appropriate and provides additional relevant information to 
users, the net present values of significant projects are stated. These future expenditures cease to be 
disclosed as commitments once the related liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet.  
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Note 7: Risks, contingencies and valuation uncertainties  
Yarram & District Health Service is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. 
In addition, it is often necessary to make judgements and estimates associated with recognition and 
measurement of items in the financial statements. This section sets out financial instrument specific 
information, (including exposures to financial risks) as well as those items that are contingent in 
nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, which for the health service is related 
mainly to fair value determination. 

 

Structure 

7.1 Financial Instruments 

7.2 Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities 
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Note 7.1: Financial instruments 

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial 
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of 
Yarram & District Health Service's activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under 
statute rather than a contract. Such financial assets and financial liabilities do not meet the definition 
of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation.  

Note 7.1(a) Financial instruments: categorisation 

 

i The carrying amount excludes statutory receivables (i.e. GST receivable and DHHS receivable) and 
statutory payables (i.e. Revenue in Advance and DHHS payable). 
From 1 July 2018, Yarram & District Health Service applies AASB 9 and classifies all of its financial 
assets based on the business model for managing the assets and the asset’s contractual terms.  

Categories of financial assets under AASB 9  
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Financial assets at amortised cost 

Financial assets are measured at amortised costs if both of the following criteria are met 
and the assets are not designated as fair value through net result: 

 the assets are held by Yarram & District Health Service to collect the contractual cash flows, 
and 

 the assets’ contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interests. 

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  

Yarram & District Health Service recognises the following assets in this category: 

 cash and deposits; 
 receivables (excluding statutory receivables); 
 term deposits; and 
 certain debt securities. 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Debt investments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if both of the 
following criteria are met and the assets are not designated as fair value through net result: 

 the assets are held by Yarram & District Health Service to achieve its objective both by 
collecting the contractual cash flows and by selling the financial assets, and 

 the assets’ contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interests. 

These assets are initially recognised at fair value with subsequent change in fair value in other 
comprehensive income.  

Upon disposal of these debt instruments, any related balance in the fair value reserve is reclassified 
to profit or loss. However, upon disposal of these equity instruments, any related balance in fair value 
reserve is reclassified to retained earnings. 

Yarram & District Health Service recognises certain unlisted equity instruments within this category.  

Financial assets at fair value through net result 

Equity instruments that are held for trading as well as derivative instruments are classified as fair 
value through net result. Other financial assets are required to be measured at fair value through net 
result unless they are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income 
as explained above.  

However, as an exception to those rules above, Yarram & District Health Service may, at initial 
recognition, irrevocably designate financial assets as measured at fair value through net result if doing 
so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (‘accounting 
mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains 
and losses on them on different bases. 

Yarram & District Health Service recognises listed equity securities as mandatorily measured at fair 
value through net result and designated all of its managed investment schemes as well as certain 5-
year government bonds as fair value through net result. 
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Categories of financial assets previously under AASB 139 

Loans and receivables and cash are financial instrument assets with fixed and 
determinable payments that are not quoted on an active market. These assets and liabilities are 
initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method (and for assets, less any impairment). The Yarram & District Health Service recognises the 
following assets in this category: 

 cash and deposits 
 receivables (excluding statutory receivables); 
 term deposits; and 
 certain debt securities. 
 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They 
are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these financial instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between 
the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the 
period of the interest bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method. The Yarram & District 
Health Service recognises the following liabilities in this category: 

 payables (excluding statutory payables); and 
 borrowings (including finance lease liabilities). 

Derecognition of financial assets: A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset 
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset have expired. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities: A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under 
the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Impairment of financial assets: At the end of each reporting period, the Yarram & District Health 
Service assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets, except those measured at fair value through profit 
or loss, are subject to annual review for impairment. 

The allowance is the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. In assessing impairment of 
statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial instruments, professional 
judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates, averages and other computational 
methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. 

Note 7.1 (b): Maturity analysis of Financial Liabilities as at 30 June 

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for Yarram & District Health Service’s 
financial liabilities. For interest rates applicable to each class of liability refer to individual notes to the 
financial statements. 
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(i) Ageing analysis of financial liabilities excludes statutory financial liabilities (i.e GST payable) 

 

Note 7.1 (c): Contractual receivables at amortised costs  

 

Impairment of financial assets under AASB 9 – applicable from 1 July 2018 

From 1 July 2018, the Yarram & District Health Service has been recording the allowance for 
expected credit loss for the relevant financial instruments, replacing AASB 139’s incurred loss 
approach with AASB 9’s Expected Credit Loss approach. Subject to AASB 9 impairment assessment 
include the Yarram & District Health Service’s contractual receivables, statutory receivables and its 
investment in debt instruments.  

Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under AASB 9. Other financial assets mandatorily 
measured or designated at fair value through net result are not subject to impairment assessment 
under AASB 9. While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of 
AASB 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.  

Contractual receivables at amortised cost 

The Yarram & District Health Service applies AASB 9 simplified approach for all contractual 
receivables to measure expected credit losses using a lifetime expected loss allowance based on the 
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Yarram & District Health Service has 
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grouped contractual receivables on shared credit risk characteristics and days past due 
and select the expected credit loss rate based on the Health Service’s past history, 
existing market conditions, as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of the financial year.  

On this basis, the Yarram & District Health Service determines the opening loss allowance on initial 
application date of AASB 9 and the closing loss allowance at end of the financial year as disclosed 
above. 

Reconciliation of the movement in the loss allowance for contractual receivables  

 

 

Credit loss allowance is classified as other economic flows in the net result. Contractual receivables 
are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery and impairment losses are 
classified as a transaction expense. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against the same line item. 

In prior years, a provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that the 
debts may not be collected and bad debts are written off when identified. A provision is made for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods when there is objective evidence that an 
individual receivable is impaired. Bad debts considered as written off by mutual consent.  

Statutory receivables and debt investments at amortised cost [AASB2016-8.4] 

The Yarram & District Health Service’s non-contractual receivables arising from statutory 
requirements are not financial instruments. However, they are nevertheless recognised and measured 
in accordance with AASB 9 requirements as if those receivables are financial instruments.  

 

Note 7.2: Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities 

There are no known contingent assets or liabilities at 30th June 2019 (2018: Nil) 

 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed 
by way of note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively. 
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Note 8: Other disclosures 
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or 
otherwise, for the understanding of this financial report. 

 

Structure 

8.1 Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year to Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 

8.2 Responsible persons disclosure 

8.3 Remuneration of Executive Officers 

8.4 Related Parties 

8.5 Remuneration of Auditors 

8.6 Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date 

8.7 Jointly Controlled Operations  

8.8 Economic dependency 

8.9 AASBs Issued that are not yet Effective 

8.10 Glossary 
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Note 8.1: Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash inflow / 
(outflow) from operating activities 
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Note 8.2: Responsible persons disclosures 

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer under the 
Financial Management Act 1994, the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons 
for the reporting period. 

 

 

Remuneration of Responsible Persons 
The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands: 
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Amounts relating to the Governing Board Members and Accountable Officer are disclosed 
in the Yarram & District Health Service’s financial statements. 

Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported within the Department of Parliamentary 
Services’ Financial Report.  

Note 8.3: Remuneration of Executives 

The number of executive officers, other than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and their total 
remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee 
equivalent provides a measure of full time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period. 

 
i The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key Management 
Personnel (KMP) of Yarram & District Health Service under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and 
are also reported within Note 8.4 Related Parties.  
ii Annualised employee equivalent is based on working 38 ordinary hours per week over the reporting 
period. 
 

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided in 
exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories: 

Short‐term	Employee	Benefits	
Salaries and wages, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as 
well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.  

Post‐employment	Benefits	
Pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when employment has 
ceased.  

Other	Long‐term	Benefits	
Long service leave, other long-service benefit or deferred compensation.  

Other	factors		
Several factors affected total remuneration payable to executives over the year. A number of 
employment contracts were completed and renegotiated and a number of executive officers retired, 
resigned or were retrenched in the past year. This has had a significant impact on remuneration 
figures for the termination benefits category.  
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Note 8.4: Related parties 

The Yarram & District Health Service is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State 
of Victoria. Related parties of the health service include: 

 All key management personnel (KMP) and their close family members; 
 Cabinet ministers (where applicable) and their close family members; 
 Jointly Controlled Operation – A member of the Gippsland Health Alliance; and 
 All hospitals and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the State of 

Victoria financial statements. 

KMPs are those people with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Yarram & District Health Service directly or indirectly.  

The Board of Directors and the Executive Directors of the Yarram & District Health Service and it’s 
controlled entities are deemed to be KMPs. 
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Key management personnel of Yarram & District Health Service 

 

The compensation detailed below is reported in $ and excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio 
Ministers receive. The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries 
and Superannuation Act 1968, and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services’ 
Financial Report. 

 
i Total remuneration paid to KMPs employed as a contractor during the reporting period through 
accounts payable has been reported under short-term employee benefits. 

ii KMPs are also reported in Note 8.2 Responsible Persons or Note 8.3 Remuneration of Executives.  

Significant	Transactions	with	Government	Related	Entities	
The Yarram & District Health Service received funding from the Department of Health and Human 
Services of $9,383,707 (2018: $8,832,355) and indirect contributions of $ 227,771 (2018: $115,731). 

Expenses incurred by the Yarram & District Health Service in delivering services and outputs are in 
accordance with Health Purchasing Victoria requirements. Goods and services including 
procurement, diagnostics, patient meals and multi-site operational support are provided by other 
Victorian Health Service Providers on commercial terms. 

Professional medical indemnity insurance and other insurance products are obtained from the 
Victorian Managed Insurance Authority.  

The Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer require the Yarram & District Health Service to 
hold cash (in excess of working capital) in accordance with the State’s centralised banking 
arrangements. All borrowings are required to be sourced from Treasury Corporation Victorian unless 
an exemption has been approved by the Minister for Health and Human Services and the Treasurer. 
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Transactions	with	KMPs	and	Other	Related	Parties	
Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with 
the Victorian public sector in a manner consistent with other members of the public e.g. stamp duty 
and other government fees and charges. Further employment of processes within the Victorian public 
sector occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of 
Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. Procurement processes 
occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board 
requirements.  

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Yarram & District Health Service, there were no 
related party transactions that involved key management personnel, their close family members and 
their personal business interests. No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for 
impairment of receivables from related parties. There were no related party transactions with Cabinet 
Ministers required to be disclosed in 2019. 

There were no related party transactions required to be disclosed for the Yarram & District Health 
Service Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Directors in 2019. 

Note 8.5: Remuneration of auditors 

 

 

Note 8.6: Events occurring after the balance sheet date 

There are no events occurring after the Balance Sheet Date. 
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Note 8.7: Jointly Controlled Operations 

 

The Yarram & District Health Service’s interest in the above jointly controlled operations are detailed 
below. The amounts are included in the consolidated financial statements under their respective 
categories: 
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The Yarram & District Health Service’s interest in revenues and expenses resulting from 
jointly controlled operations are detailed below: 

 

Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitments 

There are no known contingent liabilities or capital commitments held by the jointly controlled 
operations at balance date. 

Note 8.8: Economic dependency 

Yarram & District Health Service is dependent on the Department of Health and Human Services for 
the majority of its revenue used to operate the entity. At the date of this report, the Board of Directors 
has no reason to believe the Department of Health and Human Services will not continue to support 
Yarram & District Health Service. 

Note 8.9: AASB's Issued that are not yet effective 
 

Certain new Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations have been published that are 
not mandatory for the 30 June 2019 reporting period. The Department of Treasury and Finance 
assesses the impact of all new standards and advises Yarram & District Health Service of their 
applicability and early adoption where suitable. 

As at 30 June 2019, the following standards and interpretations had been issued by the AASB 
but were not yet effective. They become effective for the first financial statements for reporting 
periods, commencing after the stated operative dates as detailed below. Yarram and District 
Health Service has not and does not intend to adopt these standards early. 
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AASB Compiled Standards 

Standard/ Interpretation Summary Applicable for annual reporting period 

beginning on 
Impact on Yarram & District Health Service’s financial 

statements 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers 

 
The core principle of AASB 15 requires an 

entity to recognise revenue when the   

entity satisfies a performance obligation by 

transferring a promised good or service to a 

customer. Note that amending standard 

AASB 2015 8 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Effective Date of 

AASB 15 has deferred the effective date of 

AASB 15 to annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018, 

instead of 1 January 2017 for Not‐for‐Profit 

entities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1‐Jan‐19 

 
 
The changes in revenue recognition requirements in AASB 

15 may result in changes to the timing and amount of 

revenue recorded in the financial statements. Revenue 

from grants that are provided under an enforceable 

agreement that have sufficiently specific obligations, will 

now be deferred and recognised as the performance 

obligations attached to the grant are  satisfied. 

 

Based on current assessment as at 30th June 2019, there 

was no significant impact identified due to 

implementation of AASB 15. 

 
 
 
 

 
AASB 2018‐4 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Australian 

Implementation Guidance for Not for‐Profit 

Public‐Sector Licensors 

 
 
 
 

 
AASB 2018‐4 amends AASB 15 and AASB  16 

to provide guidance for revenue 

recognition in connection with taxes and 

Non‐IP licences for Not‐for‐Profit  entities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1‐Jan‐19 

 

AASB 2018‐4 provides additional guidance for not‐for‐ 

profit public sector licenses, which  include: 

 
• Matters to consider in distinguishing between a tax and 

a license, with all taxes being accounted for under AASB 

1058; 

• IP licenses to be accounted for under AASB 15;  and 
• Non‐IP, such as casino licenses, are to be accounted for 
in accordance with the principles of AASB 15 after first 

having determined whether any part of the arrangement 

should be accounted for as a lease under AASB  16. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AASB 2016‐8 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Australian 

Implementation Guidance for Not for‐Profit 

Entities 

 
 
 
 
 
 

AASB 2016‐8 inserts Australian 

requirements and authoritative 

implementation guidance for not‐for‐profit‐ 

entities into AASB 9 and AASB  15. 

 
This Standard amends AASB 9 and AASB 15 

to include requirements to assist not‐for‐ 

profit entities in applying the respective 

standards to particular transactions and 

events. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1‐Jan‐19 

This standard clarifies the application of AASB 15 and 

AASB 9 in a not‐for‐profit context. The areas within these 

standards that are amended for not‐for‐profit application 

include: 

 
AASB 9 

• Statutory receivables are recognised and measured 

similarly to financial assets. 

 
AASB 15 

• The ‘customer’ does not need to be the recipient of 

goods and/or services; 

• The “contract” could include an arrangement entered 

into under the direction of another  party; 

• Contracts are enforceable if they are enforceable by 
legal or ‘equivalent means’; 

• Contracts do not have to have commercial substance, 

only economic substance; and 

• Performance obligations need to be ‘sufficiently 

specific’ to be able to apply AASB 15 to these 

transactions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AASB 16 Leases 

 
 
 
 
 

 
The key changes introduced by AASB 16 

include the recognition of most operating 

leases (which are currently not recognised) 

on balance sheet. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1‐Jan‐19 

 

The assessment has indicated that current short term and 

low value leases will not come on to the balance sheet 

and will continued to be recognised as expenses. 

Therefore, there is no significant impact due to 

implementation of AASB 16. 

 
There will be no change for lessors as the classification of 

operating and finance leases remains  unchanged. 
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Note 8.9: AASB's Issued that are not yet effective (cont.) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
AASB 2018‐8 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Right of Use Assets 

of Not‐for‐Profit entities 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This standard amends various other 

accounting standards to provide an option 

for not‐for‐profit entities to not apply the 

fair  value  initial  measurement 

requirements to a class or classes of right of 

use assets arising under leases with 

significantly below‐market terms and 

conditions principally to enable the entity  

to further its objectives. This Standard also 

adds additional disclosure requirements to 

AASB 16 for not‐for‐profit entities that   

elect to apply this option. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1‐Jan‐19 

 

Under AASB 1058, not‐for‐profit entities are required to 

measure right‐of‐use assets at fair value at initial 

recognition for leases that have significantly below‐ 

market terms and conditions. 

 
For right‐of‐use assets arising under leases with 

significantly below market terms and conditions 

principally to enable the entity to further its objectives 

(peppercorn leases), AASB 2018‐8 provides a temporary 

option for Not‐for‐Profit entities to measure at initial 

recognition, a class or classes of right‐of‐use assets at 

cost rather than at fair value and requires disclosure of 

the adoption. 

 
The State has elected to apply the temporary option in 

AASB 2018‐8 for not‐for‐profit entities to not apply the 

fair value provisions under AASB 1058 for these right‐of‐ 

use assets. 

 
In making this election, the State considered that the 

methodology of valuing peppercorn leases was still being 

developed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
AASB 1058 Income of Not‐for‐Profit  Entities 

AASB 1058 will replace the majority of 

income recognition in relation to 

government grants and other types of 

contributions requirements relating to 

public sector not‐for‐profit entities, 

previously in AASB 1004 Contributions. 

 
The restructure of administrative 

arrangement will remain under AASB 1004 

and will be restricted to government 

entities and contributions by owners in a 

public sector context, 

 
AASB 1058 establishes principles for 

transactions that are not within the scope 

of AASB 15, where the consideration to 

acquire an asset is significantly less than 

fair value to enable not‐for‐profit entities 

to further their objective. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1‐Jan‐19 

 
 
 

Grant revenue is currently recognised up front upon 

receipt of the funds under AASB 1004  Contributions. 

 
The timing of revenue recognition for grant agreements 

that fall under the scope of AASB 1058 may be deferred. 

For example, revenue from capital grants for the 

construction of assets will need to be deferred and 

recognised progressively as the asset is being 

constructed. 

 
The impact on current revenue recognition of the 

changes is the potential phasing and deferral of revenue 

recorded in the operating  statement. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
AASB 17 Insurance Contracts 

 

The new Australian standard eliminates 

inconsistencies and weaknesses in existing 

practices by providing a single principle 

based framework to account for all types of 

insurance contracts, including reissuance 

contract that an insurer holds. It also 

provides requirements for presentation and 

disclosure to enhance comparability 

between entities. 

 
This standard currently does not apply to 

the not‐for‐profit public sector  entities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1‐Jan‐21 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The assessment has indicated that there will be no 

significant impact for the public  sector. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
AASB 2018‐7 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Definition of 

Material 

 

 
This Standard principally amends AASB 101 

Presentation of Financial Statements and 

AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in 

Accounting Estimates and Errors. The 

amendments refine and clarify the 

definition of material in AASB 101 and its 

application by improving the wording and 

aligning the definition across AASB 

Standards and other publications. The 

amendments also include some supporting 

requirements in AASB 101 in the definition 

to give it more prominence and clarify the 

explanation accompanying the definition of 

material. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1‐Jan‐20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The standard is not expected to have a significant impact 

on the public sector. 
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AASB Amending Standards 

In addition to the new standards above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending 
standards that are not effective for the 2018-19 reporting period. In general, these amending 
standards include editorial and references changes that are expected to have insignificant 
impacts on public sector reporting. 

Note 8.10: Glossary of terms and style conventions  

Actuarial gains or losses on superannuation defined benefit plans 

Actuarial gains or losses are changes in the present value of the superannuation defined benefit 
liability resulting from: 

 experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial 
assumptions and what has actually occurred); and 

 the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions. 

Amortisation 

Amortisation is the expense which results from the consumption, extraction or use over time of a non-
produced physical or intangible asset.  

Comprehensive result 

The net result of all items of income and expense recognised for the period. It is the aggregate of 
operating result and other comprehensive income. 

Commitments 

Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from 

non-cancellable contractual or statutory sources. 

Current grants 

Amounts payable or receivable for current purposes for which no economic benefits of equal value 
are receivable or payable in return. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear or time of a produced 
physical or intangible asset. This expense reduces the ‘net result for the year’. 

Effective interest method 

The effective interest method is used to calculate the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability and 
of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument, or, 
where appropriate, a shorter period 

Employee benefits expenses 

Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, 
fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments, and defined contribution 
superannuation plans. 
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Ex gratia expenses 

Ex-gratia expenses mean the voluntary payment of money or other non-monetary benefit 
(e.g. a write off) that is not made either to acquire goods, services or other benefits for the entity or to 
meet a legal liability, or to settle or resolve a possible legal liability, or claim against the entity.  

Financial asset 

A financial asset is any asset that is: 

 cash; 
 an equity instrument of another entity; 
 a contractual or statutory right: 

o to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or 
o to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions 

that are potentially favorable to the entity; or 
 a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is: 

o a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of 
the entity’s own equity instruments; or 

o a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of 
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments. 

Financial instrument 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets or liabilities that are not contractual 
(such as statutory receivables or payables that arise as a result of statutory requirements imposed by 
governments) are not financial instruments. 

Financial liability 

A financial liability is any liability that is: 

 A contractual obligation: 
o to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 
o to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that 

are potentially unfavorable to the entity; or 
 A contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is: 

o a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of 
the entity’s own equity instruments; or 

o a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of 
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments. 
For this purpose the entity’s own equity instruments do not include instruments that are 
themselves contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the entity’s own equity 
instruments. 

Financial statements 

A complete set of financial statements comprises: 

 Balance sheet as at the end of the period; 
 Comprehensive operating statement for the period; 
 A statement of changes in equity for the period; 
 Cash flow statement for the period; 
 Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information; 
 Comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in paragraph 38 of 

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements; and 
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 A statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding period when an 
entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective 
restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its financial 
statements in accordance with paragraphs 41 of AASB 101. 

Grants and other transfers 

Transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour 
to another unit without receiving approximately equal value in return. Grants can either be operating 
or capital in nature. 

While grants to governments may result in the provision of some goods or services to the transferor, 
they do not give the transferor a claim to receive directly benefits of approximately equal value. For 
this reason, grants are referred to by the AASB as involuntary transfers and are termed non-reciprocal 
transfers. Receipt and sacrifice of approximately equal value may occur, but only by coincidence. For 
example, governments are not obliged to provide commensurate benefits, in the form of goods or 
services, to particular taxpayers in return for their taxes. Grants can be paid as general purpose 
grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they 
may be paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions 
attached regarding their use. 

General government sector 

The general government sector comprises all government departments, offices and other bodies 
engaged in providing services free of charge or at prices significantly below their cost of production. 
General government services include those which are mainly non-market in nature, those which are 
largely for collective consumption by the community and those which involve the transfer or 
redistribution of income. These services are financed mainly through taxes, or other compulsory 
levies and user charges. 

Interest expense 

Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds includes interest on bank overdrafts and 
short-term and long-term liabilities, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to liabilities, interest 
component of finance leases repayments, and the increase in financial liabilities and non-employee 
provisions due to the unwinding of discounts to reflect the passage of time. 

Interest income 

Interest income includes unwinding over time of discounts on financial assets and interest received on 
bank term deposits and other investments. 

Investment properties 

Investment properties represent properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. 
Investment properties exclude properties held to meet service delivery objectives of the State of 
Victoria. 

Joint Arrangements 

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control. A joint 
arrangement has the following characteristics:  

 The parties are bound by a contractual arrangement.  
 The contractual arrangement gives two or more of those parties joint control of the 

arrangement  

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture. 
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Liabilities 

Liabilities refers to interest-bearing liabilities mainly raised from public liabilities raised 
through the Treasury Corporation of Victoria, finance leases and other interest-bearing arrangements. 
Liabilities also include non-interest-bearing advances from government that are acquired for policy 
purposes. 

Net acquisition of non-financial assets (from transactions) 

Purchases (and other acquisitions) of non-financial assets less sales (or disposals) of non-financial 
assets less depreciation plus changes in inventories and other movements in non-financial assets. It 
includes only those increases or decreases in non-financial assets resulting from transactions and 
therefore excludes write-offs, impairment write-downs and revaluations. 

Net result 

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result of 
items of income, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding those 
that are classified as ‘other comprehensive income’. 

Net result from transactions/net operating balance Net result from transactions or net operating 
balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is income from transactions minus expenses from transactions. 
It is a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and losses 
resulting from changes in price levels and other changes in the volume of assets.  

Net worth 

Assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth. 

Non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’. It includes inventories, land, 
buildings, infrastructure, road networks, land under roads, plant and equipment, investment 
properties, cultural and heritage assets, intangible and biological assets. 

Non-profit institution 

A legal or social entity that is created for the purpose of producing or distributing goods and services 
but is not permitted to be a source of income, profit or other financial gain for the units that establish, 
control or finance it. 

Payables 

Includes short and long term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes and interest payable. 

Produced assets 

Produced assets include buildings, plant and equipment, inventories, cultivated assets and certain 
intangible assets. Intangible produced assets may include computer software, motion picture films, 
and research and development costs (which does not include the startup costs associated with capital 
projects). 

Public financial corporation sector 

Public financial corporations (PFCs) are bodies primarily engaged in the provision of financial 
intermediation services or auxiliary financial services. They are able to incur financial liabilities on their 
own account (e.g. taking deposits, issuing securities or providing insurance services). 

Estimates are not published for the public financial corporation sector. 
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Public non-financial corporation sector 

The public non-financial corporation (PNFC) sector comprises bodies mainly engaged in 
the production of goods and services (of a non-financial nature) for sale in the market place at prices 
that aim to recover most of the costs involved (e.g. water and port authorities). In general, PNFCs are 
legally distinguishable from the governments which own them. 

Receivables 

Includes amounts owing from government through appropriation receivable, short and long term trade 
credit and accounts receivable, accrued investment income, grants, taxes and interest receivable. 

Sales of goods and services 

Refers to income from the direct provision of goods and services and includes fees and charges for 
services rendered, sales of goods and services, fees from regulatory services and work done as an 
agent for private enterprises. It also includes rental income under operating leases and on produced 
assets such as buildings and entertainment, but excludes rent income from the use of non-produced 
assets such as land. User charges includes sale of goods and services income. 

Supplies and services 

Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running costs, 
including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal operations of the Department. 

Transactions 

Revised Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy 
decisions, usually an interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also include flows in 
an entity such as depreciation where the owner is simultaneously acting as the owner of the 
depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service provided by the asset.  

Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between the government and taxpayers. 
Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal consideration) or 
where the final consideration is cash.  

Style conventions 

Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. Discrepancies in tables between totals and 
sums of components reflect rounding. Percentage variations in all tables are based on the underlying 
unrounded amounts. 

 

The notation used in the tables is as follows: 

zero, or rounded to zero 

(xxx.x) negative numbers 

201x year period 

201x-1x year period 

 
 


